i

!ll
= 0l
m
-
]

Gainesville Regional Utilities Authority
AGENDA

Wednesday, December 10, 2025, 5:30 p.m.
GRU Administration Building
301 SE 4th Avenue
Gainesville, FL 32601

Directors
Chair Eric Lawson
Vice-Chair David Haslam
Director Jack Jacobs
Director Robert Skinner

If you have a disability and need accommodation in order to participate in this meeting, please call
(352) 334-5051 at least two business days in advance. TTY (Text Telephone Telecommunication
Device) users please call 711 (Florida Relay Service). For Speech to Speech (STS) relay, please call
1-877-955-5334. For STS Spanish relay, please call 1-877-955-8773. For STS French Creole relay,
please call 1-877-955-8707.

m O O W

CALL TO ORDER

Agenda Statement: The Gainesville Regional Utilities Authority encourages civil public
speech. The Gainesville Regional Utilities Authority expects each person entering this
chamber to treat others with respect and courtesy. Speakers are expected to focus on
agenda items under discussion. Signs, props, posters, food, and drinks should be left
outside the auditorium.

ROLL CALL
INVOCATION
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA
Includes Consent and Regular Agenda Items.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES
Approval of Minutes from the GRUA meeting held on November 12, 2025 (B).

CHAIR COMMENTS

GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENT
(for items not on the agenda, not to exceed 30 minutes total)

DIRECTOR COMMENTS
CONSENT AGENDA



Gainesville Regional Utilities Authority

2025-978 State of the Utility, Monthly Update October 2025
Department: Gainesville Regional Utilities/Office of the Chief Operating Officer

Description: GRU will be providing a monthly update to Authority members to ensure
they are aware of the important projects and relevant utility measurements and
benchmarks. This report provides information from October 2025.

Fiscal Note: None

2025-979 Funding Source — Jacob Rodgers Litigation Settlement (B)
Department: Gainesville Regional Utilities/Budget, Finance, and Accounting

Description: This is an information item describing the cash movements require to
fund the legal settlement in the case of Jacob Roadgers vs the City of Gainesville.

Fiscal Note: As described in the attached letter, funds for the settlement came from
the Electric System Rate Stabilization Fund.

Recommendation: Informational item only.

K. CEO COMMENTS
L. ATTORNEY COMMENTS
M. BUSINESS DISCUSSION ITEMS

1.

2025-980 GRU Review — November, 2025 (B)
Department: Gainesville Regional Utilities/Office of the Chief Executive Officer

Description: An update to the Board on the significant and most meaningful events
since the last board meeting. The GRU Review isn’t meant to replace all the
granularity of the State of the Utility (which in under Consent Agenda), it is intended
to supplement it and can evolve over time depending on the requirements set forth by
the Board.

Fiscal Note: None

Recommendation: The Authority hear a presentation from the CEO and ask any
questions, if desired.

N. RESOLUTIONS (Roll Call Required)

1.

2025-981 SRF Loan and Grant Resolutions — PFAS Treatment Evaluation and Lead
and Copper Rule Revision Compliance (B)

Department: Gainesville Regional Utilities/Water & Wastewater

Description: Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) adopted enforceable drinking
water limits for Perfluoroalkyl and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS) compounds in
2024, and GRU'’s testing confirmed that these substances are not present at

Page 2 of 115



Gainesville Regional Utilities Authority

detectable levels in the City’s drinking water. Because PFAS are commonly found in
reclaimed water due to their presence in household products, GRU is proactively
conducting engineering analyses at the Kanapaha Water Reclamation Facility
(KWREF) to evaluate potential treatment technologies and costs should future
regulations require PFAS removal from reclaimed water.

GRU is also completing work required under EPA’s Lead and Copper Rule Revisions
(LCRR), which mandate that public water systems identify service line materials,
develop replacement plans, and enhance public communication. To date, GRU’s
survey results indicate that there are no lead service lines within the system.

Approval of these resolutions will allow GRU to execute State Revolving Fund (SRF)
loan/grant agreements with Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP)
to support both the PFAS Treatment Evaluation and the LCRR compliance activities.

PFAS Treatment Evaluation

EPA’s 2024 PFAS regulations prompted GRU to confirm that these compounds are
not present at detectable levels in its potable water supply. PFAS, however, are
commonly detected in reclaimed water, and future regulations may establish limits for
reclaimed water systems. To prepare, GRU is conducting engineering analyses to
identify appropriate treatment methods and associated capital and operating costs for
potential PFAS removal at the Kanapaha Water Reclamation Facility. FDEP’s Clean
Water SRF program will fund 100% of the cost of these evaluations.

On December 11, 2024, the Gainesville Regional Utilities Authority (GRUA)
authorized the CEO (or designee) to submit the application and execute a funding
agreement for up to $1,100,000. If treatment becomes necessary, GRU will seek
additional SRF funding for future capital improvements.

LCRR — Service Line Inventory Compliance

The LCRR requires public water systems to identify service line materials, develop
lead service line replacement plans, and enhance customer communication. GRU’s
systemwide survey is underway, and results to date show no lead service lines within
the GRU potable water system. FDEP’s Drinking Water SRF program will reimburse
49% of eligible costs. GRU has spent $277,000 to date and has requested up to
$547,405 to complete the inventory and associated compliance activities. The 51%
portion which GRU is responsible for under the SRF agreement will be deposited
under an escrow deposit agreement with U.S. Bank Trust Company, National
Association and used to repay the amounts due thereunder, together with the service
fee on the maturity date to FDEP..

Fiscal Note: The PFAS Treatment Evaluation is eligible for up to $1,100,000 in Clean
Water SRF loan/grant funding, which will cover the full cost of the required

Page 3 of 115



O.
P.

Gainesville Regional Utilities Authority

engineering analyses. The LCRR compliance work is eligible for up to $547,405 in
Drinking Water SRF funding at a 49 percent reimbursement rate, offsetting GRU’s
costs for completing the service line inventory and associated regulatory
requirements. No additional GRU capital funding is required as a result of approving
these resolutions.

Recommendation: The Authority (i) approve the resolutions and authorize the Chair
to execute the same, (ii) authorize the CEO to enter into the SRF loan agreements
with the FDEP for the PFAS Treatment Evaluation at the Kanapaha Water
Reclamation Facility and for GRU’s LCRR service line inventory compliance
activities, (iii) authorize the appointment of an escrow agent, (iv) authorize the
execution of an escrow deposit agreement, and (iii) authorize staff to take all
necessary administrative actions to implement each of the foregoing.

DIRECTOR COMMENTS
ADJOURNMENT

Page 4 of 115



— ==._—
Energy
Gainesville Regional Utilities Authority
MINUTES
November 12, 2025, 5:30 p.m.
GRU Administration Building
301 SE 4th Avenue
Gainesville, FL 32601
Members Present: Vice-Chair Haslam, Jack Jacobs, Chair
Lawson, Robert Skinner

CALL TO ORDER

ROLL CALL

INVOCATION

Invocation given by Vice Chair Haslam

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA

Moved by Robert Skinner

Seconded by Vice-Chair Haslam
Approved

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

Moved by Robert Skinner

Seconded by Jack Jacobs
Approved

CHAIR COMMENTS

Chair Lawson deferred his comments to the end.

1
Page 5 of 115



GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENT

Public Comment: Jim Konish, Chuck Ross, Joe Hill, Angela Casteel, Jyoti
Parmar, Dr. Stanley DeTurris

DIRECTOR COMMENTS

Director Jacobs addressed points raised during the public comment period.
CEO Bielarski further elaborated on Director Jacobs' remarks.

Vice Chair Haslam offered additional perspective on the public comments.
Director Skinner responded to issues raised during public comment.

Chair Lawson also provided remarks in response to public comment.
CONSENT AGENDA

1. 2025-902 State of the Utility, Monthly Update September 2025 (B)

2. 2025-903 GRU’s Waiver from FERC’s Independent Functioning Rule
(B)

Recommendation: No further Authority action is required at this time.
GRU will monitor for any material changes that could affect the waiver and
will report back as needed. Staff will ensure compliance with FERC’s
conditions, including required notification to the Commission should any
material change occur.

CEO COMMENTS
CEO Bielarski addressed several topics raised during public comment:

He responded to requests for a pause on utility disconnections during the
government shutdown, noting the potential implications. He highlighted that GRU
has signed an agreement with PROMISE/LIHEAP to assist customers in need
with utility bill payments, and stated that GRU can issue communications to
inform customers about how to apply for this support.

He commented on the recent special election held on November 4, 2025, and
provided clarification on the language of HB1645, emphasizing that GRU is
adhering to the requirements of this state legislation.

He spoke about GRU’s ongoing environmental initiatives, including reducing
reliance on coal and transitioning to natural gas. He emphasized that these

2
Page 6 of 115



efforts not only benefit the environment but also improve public health, and
affirmed GRU’s commitment to pursuing additional sustainability measures.

ATTORNEY COMMENTS

Scott Walker of Folds Walker addressed points raised during both public and
director comments. He provided an update on the ongoing legal proceedings
between GRUA and the City of Gainesville, including a detailed overview of the
timeline of the process.

Derek Perry, Utilities Attorney noted that he had no additional remarks beyond
Mr. Walker’s explanation.

Chair Lawson expressed appreciation to both Mr. Walker and Mr. Perry for their
diligence and hard work.

BUSINESS DISCUSSION ITEMS
1. 2025-904 Horizontal Directional Drilling (B)

Andrew Roberts, Director of Water & Wastewater provided a brief
overview of the requests being presented to the GRU Authority.

Public Comment: Chuck Ross

Director Skinner responded to the points raised during the public
comment period.

Moved by Vice-Chair Haslam
Seconded by Robert Skinner

Recommendation: The GRU Authority authorize the CEO, or designee to

1. Execute an annual contract for a three-year period with two (2) one-
year renewals with D&D, Inc. and General Underground LLC for
Horizontal Directional Drilling services, subject to the approval of the
Utilities Attorney as to form and legality.

2. Approve the issuance of purchase orders to D&D, Inc. and General
Underground, LLC in amounts not exceeding budgeted amounts for each
year of the contract, subject to the appropriation of funds for these
services for each fiscal year of the contract.

Approved as Recommended

2. 2025-905 GRU Review — October, 2025 (B)

3
Page 7 of 115



CEO Bielarski delivered a presentation highlighting the most significant
developments at GRU during October 2025.

Director Skinner requested that Mr. Bielarski address comments from Mr.
Chuck Ross concerning levelization and stabilization rates, to which CEO
Bielarski provided a response.

Recommendation: The Authority hear a presentation from the CEO and
ask questions, if desired.

Heard

N. RESOLUTIONS (Roll Call Required)
0. DIRECTOR COMMENTS

Director Skinner noted that GRU Authority directors serve without
compensation.

Vice Chair Haslam addressed public comments regarding disconnections,
encouraging customers experiencing difficulties to contact GRU directly and seek
assistance from local support organizations.

Director Jacobs offered no comments.

Chair Lawson offered no comments.
P. ADJOURNMENT

Adjourned at 6:39pm.

Kunti Nesbitt, GRUA Staff Liaison

4
Page 8 of 115



Gainesville Regional Utilities Authority
Agenda Item Report

File Number: 2025-978

Agenda Date: December 10, 2025

Department: Gainesville Regional Utilities

Title: 2025-978 State of the Utility, Monthly Update October 2025

Department: Gainesville Regional Utilities/Office of the Chief Operating Officer

Description: GRU will be providing a monthly update to Authority members to ensure
they are aware of the important projects and relevant utility measurements and
benchmarks. This report provides information from October 2025.

Fiscal Note: None

Page 9 of 115



FY26
October




Energy Supply

Major Figures &
Achievements

Regulatory YTD

Recordable :
Compliance

Injuries Regulatory

Recordable >
Compliance

Injuries

Issues

0

Issues

0

0

0

Regulatory Compliance (NERC)
Environmental Compliance
We have no outstanding ongoing environmental or electric regulatory compliance issues at this time.

Deerhaven (DH)

Deerhaven Unit 1 (DH1)

The unit remained offline in economic outage and was fully available during October. During a recent station battery load test, capac-
ity fell below the 80% threshold for the first time. The battery, originally planned for replacement in spring 2027 under the DH1 Life
Extension project, will now be replaced in December 2025 based on vendor delivery estimates (Alpine).

As part of ongoing operational updates, the unit’s secondary fuel will transition from No. 6 Fuel (Bunker C) to No. 2 Fuel (Diesel). The
No. 6 Fuel Tank (South Bulk Tank) will be decommissioned in early CY2026. Approximately 500,000 gallons of No. 6 Fuel remain
on-site and will be utilized for power generation prior to decommissioning. System Control (Dispatch) is coordinating a January 2026
operating plan to consume the remaining fuel efficiently, minimizing costs to customers.

Deerhaven Unit 2 (DH2)

The unit remained online until October 8 and entered its scheduled outage on October 10. In addition to balance-of-plant work, the
outage included inspections of the turbine right throttle valve and boiler. No unplanned discovery work occurred. The unit was re-
turned to service on November 10, 2025.

Deerhaven Combustion Turbines
« All three combustion turbines are fully available with no eRg@tenRaliggues.

1 | GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES — MORE THAN ENERGY



Energy Supply

Deerhaven Renewable (DHR)

« Unit is online.

Kelly Generating Station (JRK)
« The combined-cycle unit (JCC1) is operating at a derated net load of 100 MW—65 MW from CT4 and 35 MW from Unit 8.
« Planning and procurement are underway for the scheduled JCC1 outage beginning January 2026. The outage will focus on re-
storing full load capability while resolving emission and operational constraints.

South Energy Center (SEC)

« During October, the Wartsila engine remained online, and the solar engine was in standby and fully available.

Other Items
- At the Innovation Energy Center (IEC), one of two electric chillers was taken out of service due to lightning-related electrical con-
trol damage. Repairs have been completed and the chiller has been fully restored to service.

Page 12 of 115

GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES — MORE THAN ENERGY 2




Energy Supply

Fuels Management

Inventory

Biomass

15,550

tons (MC Adjusted)

41 days at full load; 5 days at full load;
82 days at half load. 7.5 days at half load,;
7 days at most recent
burn rate.

Page 13 of 115
3 GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES - MORE THAN ENERGY




Energy Supply

Page 14 of 115
GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES - MORE THAN ENERGY 4




Energy Supply

Page 15 of 115
5 GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES - MORE THAN ENERGY




Energy Supply

Page 16 of 115
GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES - MORE THAN ENERGY 6




Energy Supply

Emissions Data

Yearly Emissions

SO, (tons) NOy (tons) |Mercury (Ibs)*| PM (tons)* | O, (tons) without DHR| €O, (tons) with DHR
2020 379.3 1,208.3 3.1 56.5 1,033,389.5 1,697,218.5
2021 614.7 1,643.0 3.7 63.7 1,027,918.9 1,991,487.9
2022 167.4 867.8 2.1 112 861,824.7 1,771,204.7
2023 80.2 737.1 0.6 12.2 980,726.2 1,458,824.3
2024 26.5 598.4 0.8 53 946,129.6 1,373,862.0
2025 (thru October)** 167.0 610.4 1.1 55 770,313.1 1,363,376.9

*Mercury and Particulate values are for Unit 2 only.
**\/alues Subject to Change - Final Values Dependent on Fuel Analyses

Page 17 of 115

GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES — MORE THAN ENERGY




Energy Supply

Yearly Emissions

Page 18 of 115
GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES - MORE THAN ENERGY 8




Energy Supply

Emissions Data

2025 (thru October)
Unit SO, (tons) | NOy (tons) [ Mercury (Ibs) PM (tons) CO2(tons) |SO, Rate (Ib/MMBtu) | NOy Rate (Ib/MMBtu)HTIP (MMBtu)|GEN (MW-hours)
DHA1 50.4 98.6 83,298.6 1,363,427.0 111,100.0
DH2 104.0 282.7 1.13 55 393,537.1 6,515,362.0 587,262.0
DHCT3 0.0 1.0 4,055.0 68,239.0 5,205.0
JRKCC1 1.5 60.1 289,422.4 4,870,081.3 561,398.0
DHR 11.1 168.0 593,063.8 5,646,096.1 416,729.0
TOTAL 167.0 610.4 1.13 5.5 1,363,376.9 18,463,205.4 1,681,694.0
TOTALS without DHR
Unit SO, (tons) |NOy (tons) | Mercury (lbs) PM (tons) CO, (tons) | SO, Rate (Ib/MMBtu) | NOy Rate (Ib/MMBtu)|HTIP (MMBtu)|GEN (MW-hours)
DHA1 50.4 98.6 83,298.6 1,363,427.0 111,100.0
DH2 104.0 282.7 1.13 5.5 393,537.1 6,515,362.0 587,262.0
DHCT3 0.0 1.0 4,055.0 68,239.0 5,205.0
JRKCC1 1.5 60.1 289,422 .4 4,870,081.3 561,398.0
Total Without DHR 155.9 442.4 1.13 5.5 770,313.1 12,817,109.3 1,264,965.0

Page 19 of 115

GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES — MORE THAN ENERGY




Energy Supply

Emissions & Compliance Data

October Calendar Year to Date (October)
Notices of Violation 0 | | 0 |
Emissions
DH1, DH2, DHCT3, JRKCC1
CO, (tons) 51,408.7 770,313.1
NO, (tons) 16.2 442.4
SO, (tons) 0.3 155.9
DH Unit 2 (only)
PM,,1 (tons) 0.2 5.5
Hg (Ibs) 0.0 1.1
DHR
CO, (tons) 66,991.4 593,063.8
NO, (tons) 19.2 168.0
SO, (tons) 1.2 11.1

Page 20 of 115
GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES - MORE THAN ENERGY 10




Energy Supply

Availability & Capacity

Page 21 of 115

Availability Capacity
Month FY26 YTD FY25 YTD Month FY26 YTD FY25 YTD
DH-2 30.91% 30.91% 94.26% 9.47% 9.47% 34.26%
DH-1 100.00% 100.00% 99.30% 0.00% 0.00% 21.30%
Kelly CC 100.00% 100.00% 83.54% 9119% 9119% 75.93%
DH CT-1 100.00% 100.00% 97.96% 0.00% 0.00% 0.02%
DH CT-2 100.00% 100.00% 99.91% 0.00% 0.00% 0.01%
DH CT-3 100.00% 100.00% 96.60% 0.39% 0.39% 0.71%
DHR 100.00% 100.00% 64.49% 56.81% 56.81% 37.07%
Fuel Consumed
Month YTD Budget YTD Delta Budget
Coal (Tons) ) 2 —_ 2
Gas (MCF) 837,963 837,963 1,021,012 183,049
Fuel Oil (Gal) - — _ -
Biomass (Tons) | 62,429 62,429 45,629 16,799

11

GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES — MORE THAN ENERGY




Energy Supply

Performance Parameters

Sept. 2025 kWh/Month kWh/YTD Budget YTD Delta Budget
DH-2 14,007 515,846 $478,649.00 $37197.23
DH-1 (173) 99135 $31,154.00 $67,981.00
Kelly CC1 73,813 556,764 $700,841.00 $(144,077.27)
CTs 254 5,154 $280.00 $4,874.36
Grid 17,834 70,013 $94,407.00 $(24,394.00)
DHR 42,352 364,675 $213,975.00 $150,699.87
Personnel

Vacancies

Page 22 of 115

GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES — MORE THAN ENERGY

12



Energy Supply

Vacancies and Retirements

Status Title Filled? | Group Vacant Date
Vacant Analyst Senior N GRU Deerhaven Plant Aug. 28 '25
Filled Control Room Operator - GRU Deerhaven Plant Sep. 15'25
Vacant Control Room Operator GRU Deerhaven Plant Sep. 15 '25
Vacant Engineer and Utility Designer IV N GRU Deerhaven Plant Dec.1'23
Filled Power Plant Chemistry Technician - GRU Deerhaven Plant July 18 '25
Vacant Power Plant ICE Supervisor N GRU Deerhaven Plant May 22 '23
Vacant Power Plant ICE Technician N GRU - DHR Ops July 7'25
Filled Power Plant ICE Technician - GRU Deerhaven Plant May 28 '25
Vacant Power Plant Journeyman Operator N GRU Deerhaven Plant March 4 '25
Vacant Power Plant Mech Journeyman N GRU Deerhaven Plant April 23 '23
Vacant Process Plant Operator N GRU Deerhaven Plant Aug. 19'25
Filled Production Technician Y GRU - Kelly Plant June 3'25
Vacant Production Technician N GRU - Kelly Plant April 4 '25
Vacant Production Technician N GRU - Kelly Plant June 23'25

Page 23 of 115

13

GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES — MORE THAN ENERGY




Energy Delivery

Reliability Statistics

Total

Customers Outage
Outages

Customers .
Affected Minutes

Served

102,060 38

4,026 B 3,299

Outage Causes

Cause Overhead Underground | Both
Undetermined 3 0 1
Weather 0 0 0
Vegetation 14 0 1
Animals 9 0 0
Foreign Interference 1 0 0
Human Cause 0 1 0
Equipment Failure 3 3 1
Other 1 0 0]
Total 31 4 3

Page 24 of 115
15 GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES - MORE THAN ENERGY




Energy Delivery

Electric System Consumption

Oct. 2025 Oct. 2024

CONSUMPTION (kWh) [CUSTOMERS |CONSTUMPION (kWh) (CUSTOMERS
Feed-in-Tariff - Residential 151 84 235 90
Feed-in-Tariff - General Service 1,815 142 2,060 145
Electric - GS - Demand - Regular 51,722,390 1,139 51,423,273 1118
Electric - General Service Demand PV |1696,202 32 1,675,803 30
Electric - GS - Kanapaha w Curtail Cr 1,072,800 1 1,041,600 1
Electric - GS - Demand - Large Power |9,652,940 10 9,648,120 9
Electric - GS - Murphree Curtail Credit [1,574,796 1 1,418,400 1
Electric - GS - Large Demand PV 4718,400 2 4,838,400 2
Electric - GS - Non Demand 17,503,542 10,146 17,531,121 10,175
Electric - General Service PV 206,507 90 241,328 83
Electric - Lighting - Rental * 830,885 1,818 817,953 1,813
Electric - Lighting - Street - City * 403,044 14 403,953 15
Electric - Lighting - Street - County * 127,106 2 127,313 1
Electric - Lighting - Traffic 144 1 144 1
Electric - Residential - Non TOU 80,447,657 91,148 82,333,566 90,980
Electric - Residential PV 1,031,921 1,552 1,082,066 1,460
Total Retail Electric 170,990,300 104,348 172,585,335 104,095
*Number of customers is excluded from total customer count.

Page 25 of 115

GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES — MORE THAN ENERGY

16



Energy Delivery

Gas System Consumption

Oct. 2025 Oct. 2024
CONSUMPTION (THM) CUSTOMERS CONSUMPTION (THM) CUSTOMERS
Gas - GS - Regular Service (Firm) 596,504 1,247 603,497 1,258
Gas - GS - Regular Service (Small) 28783 501 24,288 486
Gas - GS - Interruptible - Regular Serv  |43,860 1 25,815 1
Gas - GS - Interruptible - Large Volume |492 152 9 373,691 7
Gas - Residential - Regular Service 324,240 35,643 346,021 35,458
Total Retail Gas 1,485,539 37,401 1,373,312 37,210

Major Projects
ED Electric Engineering

« Archer Place Apartments — Multistory buildings with apartments and retail. Overhead to Underground Conversion of electrical

facilities is complete. Developer requested temporary power and started construction in Phase 1 (back end of property).
» TACTICS - Circuits 209-287 — T&D has started construction.

« County Criminal Court Complex Expansion — Demolition of parking lights and relocation of traffic light source complete. Coordi-

nating construction with developers and warehouse regarding switchgear availability based on new lead times.

« New Feeder for Amazon EV Fleet — Recent meeting between Amazon representatives, Substation & Relay, and Engineering for

progress updates and timelines.

« Woodland Park — Gainesville Housing Authority — Demolition complete.

« North Florida Regional Medical Center at Archer — Transmission line marker balls and beacons installed for hospital helipad.

« Oaks Preserve Phase 2 — Residential subdivision. Construction of electrical installations in progress.

« Natura — Multifamily apartment site with nine three-story buildings, clubhouse, garages, and common areas. Design complete and

released for construction.

« Hammock Preserve — Residential and commercial mixed-use development. Construction in progress.

« Gilbane—Collegiate Apartments — New multistory apartments on NW 20th Ave. Construction in progress.
« TACTICS - Circuit 550 — T&D construction in progress.
» New Feeder — Circuit 1038 — Under construction.

Page 26 of 115

17|

GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES — MORE THAN ENERGY




Energy Delivery

Gas Engineering
« AUD Rollout Implementation — Continuing design using AUD-only workflow. Rolled out completed AUD gas template jointly with
Electric Engineering; ongoing updates in coordination.
 Ben E. Keith Facility — Permitted; installing first 5,900 ft of pipeline. Designing and permitting remaining portions.
« Bridlewood — External 6” portion nearly complete; awaiting developer completion of internal section.
» Westgate Backfeed — Continuing design to remove and replace nonstandard 5” steel pipe from system.

Electric Operations
T&D Operations
« Line 16 outage - Installed marker balls and beacon lights on transmission structures to support the new HCA hospital helipad.
» Circuit 1038 - Directional boring complete. Crews pulling conductor and coordinating tie-in at Sugarfoot. Approximately 60% of
the new circuit ready for energization.
« Streetlight Night Run - Identified 12 non-operational lights; all repaired.
« Reliability — FY25 marked the best GRU reliability performance in recent history.

Substation & Relay
» Parker Auto Transformers — Transformer arrived on Halloween. Manufacturer to complete installation and testing. Anticipated
in-service date mid-December.

System Control
« Supported economic analysis related to taking DH2 offline for outage.
» FPL power purchase — Began 8/1; scheduled to end on 11/10.

Technical Services Group
« GIS upgrade to version 11.3 — 35% complete.
- Land Base Migration from legacy SQL database to new SQL database — 40% complete.
« AMI to OMS integration — 80% complete.
« OMS upgrade — 75% complete.

Page 27 of 115
GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES - MORE THAN ENERGY 18




Energy Delivery

Energy Measurement & Field Operations
Revenue Protection
« Investigated 24 damaged underground facilities during September
« Two investigators passed the Florida Association of Code Enforcement exam, obtaining authority to issue FS 556 citations for un-
derground facility damage.

Field Services
« Responded to 63 gas emergencies in October.

Electric Measurement
« GenerlLink socket inspections — 35 signed agreements; 33 GenerLink switches installed.

Gas Measurement
« Completed the semi-annual Deerhaven Regulator rebuilds and installed a pilot heater to prevent equipment freezing.

Gas T&D Major Projects
» Bridlewood S/D (High Springs) — Construction ongoing. Boring 6” piping from US-441 to the subdivision and 4” piping for interior
Phase 1. External work 66% complete; interior 90% complete. Remaining external piping to be installed via open trench.
« Installed 8 new gas services (FY26 total: 51), retired two services, and re-ran four services over the last two weeks.

Page 28 of 115
19 GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES — MORE THAN ENERGY




Energy Delivery

Advanced Metering Infrastructure (AMI)

Category Electric Water Natural Gas | Total AMI Financial Summary

Remote Reading 103,966 70,461 32,587 207,014 Actuals Spent $43,346,952 92.10%
AMI Devices 103,975 70,612 32,596 207,183 Budget Remaining | $3,719,424 7.90%
Non-AMI Devices 30 7,695 5,682 13,407 Total Budget $47,066,376 100.00%
Total Devices 104,005 78,307 38,278 220,590

Saturation % 100.00% 90.20% 85.20% 93.90%

Standard Industry Comparisons

Comparison Actual Goal Description

SAIDI 1.41 System Average Interruption Duration Index
CAIDI 32.56 Customer Average Interruption Duration Index
SAIFI 0.04 System Average Interruption Frequency Index
ASAI 99.99% Average Service Availability Index

Personnel

Page 29 of 115

GAII\IBSVI[|.LE REGIONAL UTILITIES — MORE THAN ENERGY GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES — MORE THP4N ENERGY



Energy Delivery

Vacancies and Retirements

Status Title Filled? Group Vacant Date
Vacant Engineer and Utility Designer | Gas Engineering June 24
Vacant Field Service Technician Meter Services Feb. ‘25
Vacant Field Service Technician Meter Services Aug. 25
Vacant GIS and Operational Systems Coordinator GIS Operations Services March ‘24
Vacant Electrical Engineer and Utility Designer lll Electric Engineering Aug. ‘24
Vacant Technical Support Specialist llI Electric Measurement Jan. ‘25
Vacant Systems Control Manager Electric Operations July 25
Vacant Operational Technology Network Analyst Lead Systems Control Feb. ‘25
Vacant Operational Technology Network Analyst Senior Systems Control March ‘25
Vacant Principal Engineer System Control Technical Operations Aug. ‘25
Vacant Electric Measurement Technician Electric Meter Measurement Operations July ‘25
Vacant Substation Relay Engineer and Utility Designer llI S&R Engineer Group June ‘25
Vacant Relay Technician Relay Operations March ‘24
Vacant Electric Line Worker Electric Line Workers Aug. ‘25
Vacant Line Worker Lead Electric Line Workers Oct. 24
Vacant Electric Line Worker Electric Transmission & Delivery July ‘24
Vacant Electric Line Worker Electric Line Workers Feb. ‘25
Vacant Electric Line Worker Electric Line Workers June ‘25
Vacant Principal Engineer and Utility Designer Electric Engineering Sept. ‘25
Vacant Energy Delivery Facilities Specialist Il Electric Engineering Jan. 24
Vacant Transmission Planning Principal Engineer Electric Engineering July 25
Vacant Energy Delivery Facilities Specialist Supervisor Electric Engineering July ‘25
Vacant Principal Engineer and Utility Designer Electric Engineering Sept. 25
Vacant Energy Delivery Facilities Specialist Il Electric Engineering Sept. 25
Vacant Energy Delivery Facilities Specialist Il Page 30 Electric Engineering Feb. ‘25

GAII\IE.SVI[|.LE REGIONAL UTILITIES — MORE THAN ENERGY GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES — MORE THP4N ENERGY



Water/Wastewater

Production

Murphree Water Treatment Plant (Operations Normal)

Permitted Capacity| FY 26 YTD % of

Month (mgd) FY 26 YTD (mgd) FY 25 (mgd) (mgd) Permitted Capacity
Average Daily Flow 247 247 24.0 30 82%
Max Daily Peak Flow 30.9 30.9 36.6 54 57%

Main Street Water Reclamation Facility (Operations Normal, Reclaimed Water On)

Permitted Capacity| FY 26 YTD % of

Month (mgd) FY 26 YTD (mgd) FY 25 (mgd) (mgd) Permitted Capacity
Average Daily Flow 5.6 5.6 54 7.5 75%
Max Daily Peak Flow 8.5 8.5 131 NA NA

Kanapaha Water Reclamation Facility (Operations Normal, Reclaimed Water On)

Permitted Capacity| FY 26 YTD % of

Month (mgd) FY 26 YTD (mgd) FY 25 (mgd) (mgd) Permitted Capacity
Average Daily Flow 10.3 10.3 10.6 14.9 69%
Max Daily Peak Flow 17.6 17.6 19.1 NA NA

Page 31 of 115
23 GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES — MORE THAN ENERGY




Water/Wastewater

Environmental Compliance

Water Distribution System

Month FY 26 YTD FY 25
Precautionary Boil Water Notices: 2 2 22
Wastewater Collection System
Month FY 26 YTD FY 25
Sanitary Sewer Overflows (SSOs) 1 1 18
SSOs By Type:
Residential Grease & Toiletries 1 1 6
Infrastructure 10
Third-Party Damage 2
Wet Weather 0
Named Storms 0
Page 32 of 115

GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES — MORE THAN ENERGY 24



Water/Wastewater

Maintenance
Water Distribution System

Month FY 26 YTD FY 25 Monthly Goal
Dispatched Water Work Orders 372 372 5,238 -
Water Leaks 144 144 2,189 -
Water Damages (by 3rd Parties) 26 26 358 -
Other Water Work Orders 202 202 2,691 -
Number of Water Services Replaced 110 110 1,058 83
Feet of Water Main Replaced 867 867 24,652 2,200
Wastewater Collection System
Month FY 26 YTD FY 25 Monthly Goal
Dispatched Sewer Work Orders 71 71 860 -
Sewer Stoppages 18 18 202 -
Sewer Damages (by 3rd Parties) 3 3 62 -
Other Sewer Work Orders 50 50 596 -
SWAMP Program
Miles of Gravity Main Inspected 8.3 8.3 154 125
Number of Manholes Inspected 174 174 3,833 200

Reclaimed Distribution System

Month FY 26 YTD FY 25 Monthly Goal
Dispatched Reclaim Work Orders 7 7 115 -
Reclaim Leaks 2 2 20 -
Reclaim Water Damages (by 3rd H 1 1 4 -
Other Reclaim Work Orders 4Page 3B of 1154 91 -

25

GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES — MORE THAN ENERGY




Water/Wastewater

Major Projects

Water Distribution
« NE 9th Street Water Main Improvements from University Ave to 5th Ave — Construction beginning.

Wastewater Collection
 Haile Plantation Gravity Main Improvements Phase 3 — Underway at roundabout with planned completion in November 2025.
« Fort Clark Blvd Gravity Main Replacement — Replacement in progress. Expected completion in May 2026.

Main Street Water Reclamation Facility
« Construction continues on Phase 1. Electrical building gear installation and installation of new piping and equipment underway in
the new headworks facility.

Kanapaha Water Reclamation Facility
« Work underway to complete the Operations & Maintenance Performance Report for FDEP for inclusion in the five-year operating
permit renewal application.

Lift Stations
« Lift Station No. 147 — Check valave replacement complete for 35 and 15 hp pumps.

Murphree Water Treatment Plant
« Received four proposals for Progressive Design Build for MWTP High Service Pumping Station and Ground Storage Tank.

Page 34 of 115
GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES — MORE THAN ENERGY 26




Water/Wastewater

Vacancies and Retirements

Status

Title

Filled?

Vacant - Posting Soon

Service Operator

Job Posted

Piping Engineer 1-4

Candidate Selection

Operator Mechanic

Candidate Selection

Operator Mechanic

Candidate Testing

Wastewater ICE Tech

Candidate Testing

Wastewater ICE Tech

Vacant - Posting Soon

Service Operator

Vacant - Posting Soon

GIS/OS Specialist |

Candidate Selection

GIS/OS Supervisor

Personnel

Group Vacant Date
Water Distribution Oct. ‘25
W/WW Engineering June 25
Water Reclamations Aug. ‘25
Water Reclamations Sept. 25
Water Reclamations Nov. ‘24
Water Reclamations July ‘25
Wastewater Collection Oct. ‘25
Wastewater Collection July 25

WD & WWC June 25

Vacancies

Page 35 of 115

9

27

GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES — MORE THAN ENERGY




Safety & Training

Safety Data
Month Injury Statistics
Department F|.rst Aid R<?co.rdable DART*
Given Injuries
o e Administration
Injuries mistra® 0 0 0
Recorded W/WW 0 0 0
Energy Supply 0 0 0
o Energy Delivery & Gas 0 0 0
GRUCom 0 0 0
Total o o o

*DART: Days away, restricted or transferred.

Fiscal YTD Injury Statistics

Department giirvs::id ﬁ‘?ﬁ;reiable DART
Injuries Administration 0 0 0
Recorded WIWW 5 0 o
0 Energy Supply 0 0 0
Energy Delivery & Gas 0 0] 0
GRUCom 0 0] 0
Total o o o

Page 36 of 115

29 GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES — MORE THAN ENERGY



Safety & Training

Month Vehicle Collisions & Miles Driven

Vehicle
Collisions

3

Fiscal YTD Vehicle Collisions & Miles Driven

Vehicle
Collisions

3

Department Miles Driven CR:iﬁ?;iiizle (P:Lel;;:ir;t:sble
Administration 8,098 0 0
W/WW 78,932 2 0]
Energy Supply 3,002 0 0
Energy Delivery & Gas 100,552 1 0
GRUCom 5,447 0] 0]
Total 196,031 3 0
Department Miles Driven giﬁ?;;izle zz;;:;;t::le
Administration 8,098 0] 0]
W/WW 78,932 2 0
Energy Supply 3,002 0 0
Energy Delivery & Gas 100,552 1 0
GRUCom 5,447 0 0
Total 196,031 3 o
Page 37 of 115

GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES — MORE THAN ENERGY




Safety & Training

Injury Details
« None reported in October.

Collision Details
« Oct. 16 — Citizen vehicle side-swiped U2250 during a lane merge.
« Oct. 30 — Citizen vehicle pulled out in front of Vac Truck.
« Oct. 30 — Large dog ran out into road striking front passenger bumper of U1889.

Page 38 of 115
31 GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES - MORE THAN ENERGY




Customer Operations

Revenue Assurance

Referred Funds .
c . Prior Indebtedness
to Collections Collected Bankruptcies Funds Collected

$474,023.38 $19,772.88 $4,308.63 $57,959.25

FYTD: $474,023.38 FYTD: $19,772.88 FYTD: $4,308.63 FYTD: $57,959.25

Disconnections Reconnections

1,471 1,502

Billing & Customer Customer Experience
Solutions Transactional
+ Invoicing rating: 99.93% Survey
« Meter rereads: 126 4.1
» Locked reads: 6,996
« Solar invoicing rating: 100% é-Obby
. Processed emails: 2,643/2,628 (101%) urvey
5.0
Page 39 of 115

33 GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES — MORE THAN ENERGY



New Services

Customer Operations

Building Permit Reviews 242

Active Projects Amount

City 201

County 41

New Installations Amount

Electric 46

Water 39

Wastewater 30

Gas 13

Solar Reviews Amount

Plan Reviews 5

PVs Completed on Time 5

PV Installations 8

Avg. Handle Time (in Weeks) 57
Page 40 of 115

GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES — MORE THAN ENERGY

34



Customer Operations

Customer Service

Answer Speed

Call Type Actual FYTD Goal
Residential & Non-residential 5:00

Handle Time

Call Type Actual FYTD Goal
Residential & Non-residential 7:00
Other Statistics

Social
Service Vouchers

160

Lobby Project
Visits Share

Payments

Returned

709

3,476 $3,678.32

$491,215.32 $89,065.31

Page 41 of 115
35 GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES - MORE THAN ENERGY




Customer Operations

Payment Type Details

Payment Type Transactions | Transactions FYTD | $ Amount $ Amount FYTD
Drop Box 699 699 $95,837,274.00 $95,837,274.00
Mailed 16,786 16,786 $14,814,184.21 $14,814,184.21
Office Payment 40 40 $10,613.84 $10,613.84
Drive Thru 3,852 3,852 $2,757,939.31 $2,757,939.31
Kubra Cash 64 64 $21,574.33 $21,574.33
Check Free 7198 7198 $2,837774.22 $2,837,774.22
Kubra ACH 19,125 19,125 $6,979,410.47 $6,979,410.47
Collection Agency 64 64 $21,574.33 $21,574.33
Kubra CC/EZPAY 19,125 19,125 $6,979,410.47 $6,979,410.47
Lobby Walk-Ins 2,666 2,666 $1,269,136.08 $1,269,136.08
Direct Debit 35,598 35,598 $11,880,958.59 $11,880,958.59

Page 42 of 115

GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES — MORE THAN ENERGY

36




Customer Operations

Energy & Business Services

Residential Surveys 37
Commercial Surveys 6
LEEPP“s Applications Received 6
LEEPP"S Pre-Inspections 1
LEEPP"“S Completed Homes 5
Page 43 of 115

37

GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES — MORE THAN ENERGY



FY26
October

State of the Utility
__ [ed=/J}

]
-rs = -
More than Energy

|

Page 44 of 115



Gainesville Regional Utilities Authority
Agenda Item Report

File Number: 2025-979

Agenda Date: December 10, 2025

Department: Gainesville Regional Utilities

Title: 2025-979 Funding Source — Jacob Rodgers Litigation Settlement (B)

Department: Gainesville Regional Utilities/Budget, Finance, and Accounting

Description: This is an information item describing the cash movements require to fund
the legal settlement in the case of Jacob Roadgers vs the City of Gainesville.

Fiscal Note: As described in the attached letter, funds for the settlement came from the
Electric System Rate Stabilization Fund.

Recommendation: Informational item only.

Page 45 of 115



2025-979A

To: Gainesville Regional Utilities Authority
From: Ed Bielarski, CEO

Subject: Funding source — Rodgers litigation settlement

OnJune 13, 2025 Governor Desantis signed House Bill 6521, a
legislative claims bill in the case of Jacob Rodgers vs the City of
Gainesville providing $11 million in relief to Mr. Rodgers related to an
automobile accident which occurred on October 7, 2015 involving
Mr. Rodgers and a City-owned vehicle driven by a City employee.

The payment was recorded as an extraordinary item based on the
unusual nature and infrequent occurrence of the payment. GRU
Management made the decision to use reserves from the Electric
System Rate Stabilization Fund to cover the unanticipated $11
million expense in fiscal year 2025. This was accomplished through
a one-time transfer from the Electric System Rate Stabilization Fund
to the Electric System Operating Fund. Based on Electric System
Operating Fund cash levels as of fiscal year end 2025, the Electric
System Rate Stabilization Fund will not be reimbursed for this
transfer.

Page 46 of 115



CASH & RESERVE LEVEL IMPACTS: FUNDING $11M RODGERS SETTLEMENT

CASH BALANCES @ FYE2025

2025-979A

Electric Water Wastewater Gas GRUCom Total
Operating Fund 22,595,309 1,781,542 5,666,982 7,881,343 1,450,670 39,375,846
Rate Stabilization Fund 42,454,671 16,086,385 24,378,271 3,515,288 - 86,434,615
UPIF 15,137,518 106,416 6,815,093 6,146,743 1,305,470 29,511,240
Operating Fund Days Cash on Hand 41 30 87 158 73 53

CASH BALANCES @ FYE2025 IF THE $11M WAS RETURNED TO THE RATE STABILIZATION FUND

Electric Water Wastewater Gas GRUCom Total
Operating Fund 11,595,309 1,781,542 5,666,982 7,881,343 1,450,670 28,375,846
Rate Stabilization Fund 53,454,671 16,086,385 24,378,271 3,515,288 - 97,434,615
UPIF 15,137,518 106,416 6,815,093 6,146,743 1,305,470 29,511,240
Operating Fund Days Cash on Hand 21 30 87 158 73 38

RESERVE LEVELS @ FYE2025
60 Days of Operating Fund Cash 3,714,297 292,856 931,559 1,295,563 238,466 6,472,742
Rate Stabilization Fund Cash 42,454,671 16,086,385 24,378,271 3,515,288 - 86,434,615
UPIF Cash 15,137,518 106,416 6,815,093 6,146,743 1,305,470 29,511,240
Total Reserves 61,306,486 16,485,657 32,124,923 10,957,594 1,543,936 122,418,597
RESERVE LEVELS @ FYE2025 IF THE $11M WAS RETURNED TO THE RATE STABILIZATION FUND

Electric Water Wastewater Gas GRUCom Total
Operating Fund 1,906,078 292,856 931,559 1,295,563 238,466 4,664,523
Rate Stabilization Fund 53,454,671 16,086,385 24,378,271 3,515,288 - 97,434,615
UPIF 15,137,518 106,416 6,815,093 6,146,743 1,305,470 29,511,240
Total Reserves 70,498,267 16,485,657 32,124,923 10,957,594 1,543,936 131,610,378

Page 47 of 115



!ﬁb! —' Gainesville Regional Utilities Authority

Agenda Item Report

File Number: 2025-980

Agenda Date: December 10, 2025

Department: Gainesville Regional Utilities

Title: 2025-980 GRU Review — November, 2025 (B)

Department: Gainesville Regional Utilities/Office of the Chief Executive Officer
Description: An update to the Board on the significant and most meaningful events
since the last board meeting. The GRU Review isn’t meant to replace all the granularity
of the State of the Utility (which in under Consent Agenda), it is intended to supplement
it and can evolve over time depending on the requirements set forth by the Board.

Fiscal Note: None

Recommendation: The Authority hear a presentation from the CEO and ask any
guestions, if desired.

Page 48 of 115



GRU Review

November 2025

N
CUSTOMER FIRST

ONE UTILITY. ONE GOAL.

Page 49 of 115

2025-980A



-~
———

* Vacancy rate leveled out from 8.84% in October to 8.72% in
November

GRU People Resources

« Six (6) lineworker apprentices earned journeyman status after
completing 185 competency training modules and over 8,000 hours of
on-the-job training

* Success Factors Go-live date has been moved back, to mid-March
2026

« CBA negotiations have been re-engaged

CUSTOMER

&
\&/ FIrRsTS: 20

Page 50 of 115




————————————————— Community

* UF Students, studying * Visited the Rock’s first grade
contaminant remediation, toured  students to deliver a Downed
Murphree plant Line Program along with our

Bucket Truck

« Customer Service participated in

| ille High School
IC:Baailrngrs]vllloev. 'Ilggth School Career Water/WW completed 500 days

without a non-preventable

. . vehicle accident — 1.5 million
« Participated in Meadowbrook miles!

Elementary School STEAM night
on Nov. 18th

1l

=
N
=}

-_Q' _' Page 51 of 115

s ===
Energy



N
——————————————

 FY2027 budget work has begun

Other Items

» Future borrowings are being contemplated
* Legal work is on-going in regard to the appeal
« Stormwater/Solid waste MOU is being negotiated

* Meeting scheduled with City Manager

?I\[I

=
N
=}

DI Page 52 of 115 CUSTOMER_

= &
== == \&/ FIrRsTS: 20



!ﬂb! —' Gainesville Regional Utilities Authority

Agenda Item Report

File Number: 2025-981
Agenda Date: December 10, 2025
Department: Gainesville Regional Utilities

Title: 2025-981 SRF Loan and Grant Resolutions — PFAS Treatment Evaluation
and Lead and Copper Rule Revision Compliance (B)

Department: Gainesville Regional Utilities/Water & Wastewater

Description: Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) adopted enforceable drinking
water limits for PFAS compounds in 2024, and GRU'’s testing confirmed that these
substances are not present at detectable levels in the City’s drinking water. Because
PFAS are commonly found in reclaimed water due to their presence in household
products, GRU is proactively conducting engineering analyses at the Kanapaha Water
Reclamation Facility to evaluate potential treatment technologies and costs should
future regulations require PFAS removal from reclaimed water.

GRU is also completing work required under EPA’s Lead and Copper Rule Revisions
(LCRR), which mandate that public water systems identify service line materials,
develop replacement plans, and enhance public communication. To date, GRU’s survey
results indicate that there are no lead service lines within the system.

Approval of these resolutions will allow GRU to execute State Revolving Fund (SRF)
loan/grant agreements with Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) to
support both the PFAS Treatment Evaluation and the LCRR compliance activities.

PFAS Treatment Evaluation (KWRF)

EPA’s 2024 PFAS regulations prompted GRU to confirm that these compounds are not
present at detectable levels in its potable water supply. PFAS, however, are commonly
detected in reclaimed water, and future regulations may establish limits for reclaimed
water systems. To prepare, GRU is conducting engineering analyses to identify
appropriate treatment methods and associated capital and operating costs for potential
PFAS removal at the Kanapaha Water Reclamation Facility. FDEP’s Clean Water SRF
program will fund 100% of the cost of these evaluations.

On December 11, 2024, the GRUA authorized the CEO (or designee) to submit the
application and execute a funding agreement for up to $1,100,000. If treatment
becomes necessary, GRU will seek additional SRF funding for future capital
improvements.

Page 53 of 115



Lead and Copper Rule Revisions (LCRR) — Service Line Inventory Compliance

The LCRR requires public water systems to identify service line materials, develop lead
service line replacement plans, and enhance customer communication. GRU’s
systemwide survey is underway, and results to date show no lead service lines within
the GRU potable water system. FDEP’s Drinking Water SRF program will reimburse
50% of eligible costs, with loan/grant funds deposited into an escrow account for
reimbursement as work progresses. GRU has spent $277,000 to date and has
requested up to $547,405 to complete the inventory and associated compliance
activities.

Fiscal Note: The PFAS Treatment Evaluation is eligible for up to $1,100,000 in Clean
Water SRF loan/grant funding, which will cover the full cost of the required engineering
analyses. The LCRR compliance work is eligible for up to $547,405 in Drinking Water
SRF funding at a 50 percent reimbursement rate, offsetting GRU’s costs for completing
the service line inventory and associated regulatory requirements. No additional GRU
capital funding is required as a result of approving these resolutions.

Recommendation: Approve the resolutions and authorize the Chair to execute the
same, authorizing the CEO to enter into the State Revolving Fund (SRF) loan/grant
agreements with the Florida Department of Environmental Protection for the PFAS
Treatment Evaluation at the Kanapaha Water Reclamation Facility and for GRU’s Lead
and Copper Rule Revisions (LCRR) service line inventory compliance activities, and
authorize staff to take all necessary administrative actions to implement the
loans/grants.

Page 54 of 115



2025-981A

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-981A

A RESOLUTION OF THE GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES
AUTHORITY, A UNIT OF CITY GOVERNMENT OF THE CITY OF
GAINESVILLE, FLORIDA, RELATING TO THE STATE REVOLVING
FUND LOAN PROGRAM; MAKING FINDINGS; AUTHORIZING THE
LOAN APPLICATION; AUTHORIZING THE LOAN AGREEMENT;
DESIGNATING AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES; PROVIDING
ASSURANCES; AND PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS, SEVERABILITY,
AND EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, Florida Statutes provide for loans to local government agencies to finance
the construction of wastewater treatment facilities; and

WHEREAS, Florida Administrative Code rules require authorization to apply for loans,
to establish pledged revenues, to designate an authorized representative; to provide assurances of
compliance with loan program requirements; and to enter into a loan agreement; and

WHEREAS, the State Revolving Fund loan priority list designates Project No.
WWO011810 as eligible for available funding; and

WHEREAS, the Gainesville Regional Utilities Authority (“Authority”), a Unit of City
Government of the City of Gainesville, Florida, intends to enter into a loan agreement (the “Loan
Agreement”) with the Department of Environmental Protection under the State Revolving Fund
for project financing; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to section 2, article 7.01, Ch. 2023-348, Laws of Florida (“Special
Act”), the Authority shall operate as a Unit of City Government and, except as otherwise provided
in the Special Act, shall be free from direction and control of the Gainesville City Commission.
The Authority is created for the express purpose of managing, operating, controlling, and
otherwise having broad authority with respect to the utilities owned by the City of Gainesville; and

WHEREAS, the City Commission of the City (the “Commission”) adopted Resolution
No. 2023-1186 on December 22, 2023 (the “Transition Resolution”) to effectuate the orderly
transition of the governance, operation, management, and control of all utility systems, properties
and assets related to the System to the Authority; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to section 2, article 7.03(e) of the Special Act, the Authority is
authorized to issue evidences of indebtedness of the City of Gainesville secured by the revenues
and pledged funds and accounts of the utility system, pursuant to Florida Law.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GAINESVILLE REGIONAL
UTILITIES AUTHORITY, A UNIT OF CITY GOVERNMENT OF THE CITY OF
GAINESVILLE, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION I. The foregoing findings are incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof.

Page 1 of 4
Page 55 of 115



SECTION II. The Authority, a Unit of City Government of the City of Gainesville, Florida, is
authorized to apply for a loan to finance the Project.

SECTION III. The form of the Loan Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit “A” is hereby
approved, subject to such changes, insertions and omissions and filling of blanks therein, as may
be approved and made in such form of Loan Agreement by the officers of the Authority executing
the same, in a manner consistent with the provisions of this Resolution, such execution to be
conclusive evidence of such approval. No revenues will be pledged for the repayment of the loan
because the loan will be 100 percent forgiven and no repayment is required and shall be treated as
a grant for all purposes by the Authority.

SECTION IV. The Gainesville Regional Utilities Authority’s Chief Executive Officer/General
Manager is hereby designated as the authorized representative and agent of the City of Gainesville
to provide the assurances and commitments required by the loan application.

SECTION V. The Gainesville Regional Utilities Authority’s Chief Executive Officer/General
Manager is hereby designated as the authorized representative and agent of the City of Gainesville
to execute the Loan Agreement which will become a binding obligation in accordance with its
terms when signed by both parties. The Gainesville Regional Utilities Authority’s Chief Executive
Officer/General Manager is authorized to represent and act as an agent of the City of Gainesville
in carrying out the City of Gainesville and its Authority’s responsibilities under the Loan
Agreement. The Chief Executive Officer/General Manager is authorized to delegate responsibility
to appropriate Authority staff to carry out technical, financial, and administrative activities
associated with the Loan Agreement.

SECTION VI. Although governing bodies of municipalities are generally authorized to borrow
pursuant to section 166.111, Florida Statutes, the specific legal authority for the Authority’s
borrowing moneys to construct this Project is section 2, article 7.03(e), Ch. 2023-348, Laws of
Florida, and Article VII, section 7.03(e) of Gainesville’s City Charter (despite no revenues being
pledged).

SECTION VII. All Resolutions or part of Resolutions in conflict with any of the provisions of
this Resolution are hereby repealed.

SECTION VIII. If any section or portion of a section of this Resolution proves to be invalid,
unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the validity, force, or effect
of any other section or part of this Resolution.

SECTION IX. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its passage and adoption.

[Signature Page to Follow]

Page 2 of 4
Page 56 of 115



PASSED and ADOPTED this 10th day of December 2025.

GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES
AUTHORITY

By:

Eric Lawson, Chair

Approved as to Form and Legality:

Derek D. Perry
Utilities Attorney

Page 3 of 4
Page 57 of 115



EXHIBIT A

FORM LOAN AGREEMENT

Page 4 of 4
Page 58 of 115



STATE OF FLORIDA
DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

AND

CITY OF GAINESVILLE, FLORIDA

CLEAN WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND
PLANNING LOAN AGREEMENT
WW011810

Florida Department of Environmental Protection
State Revolving Fund Program
Marjory Stoneman Douglas Building
3900 Commonwealth Boulevard, MS 3505
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-3000

Page 59 of 115




CLEAN WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND PLANNING LOAN AGREEMENT

CONTENTS PAGE

ARTICLE I - DEFINITIONS
1.01. WORDS AND TERMS.
1.02. CORRELATIVE WORDS.

N — —

ARTICLE IT - WARRANTIES, REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS 2
2.01. WARRANTIES, REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS. 2
2.02. LEGAL AUTHORIZATION. 4
2.03. AUDIT AND MONITORING REQUIREMENTS. 4

ARTICLE III - RESERVED 6

ARTICLE IV - PROJECT INFORMATION 6
4.01. RESERVED. 6
4.02. CLOSE-OUT. 6
4.03. LOAN DISBURSEMENTS. 6

ARTICLE V - RATES AND USE OF THE UTILITY SYSTEM 7
5.01. RESERVED. 7
5.02. RESERVED. 7
5.03. RESERVED. 7
5.04. NO COMPETING SERVICE. 7
5.05. MAINTENANCE OF THE UTILITY SYSTEM. 7
5.06. ADDITIONS AND MODIFICATIONS. 7
5.07. RESERVED. 7

ARTICLE VI - DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 7
6.01. EVENTS OF DEFAULT. 7
6.02. REMEDIES. 8
6.03. DELAY AND WAIVER. 9

ARTICLE VII - RESERVED. 10

ARTICLE VIII - GENERAL PROVISIONS 10
8.01. RESERVED. 10
8.02. PROJECT RECORDS AND STATEMENTS. 10
8.03. ACCESS TO PROJECT SITE. 10
8.04. ASSIGNMENT OF RIGHTS UNDER AGREEMENT. 10
8.05. AMENDMENT OF AGREEMENT. 10
8.06. ABANDONMENT, TERMINATION OR VOLUNTARY CANCELLATION. 10
8.07. SEVERABILITY CLAUSE. 11
8.08. SIGNAGE. 11
8.09. PUBLIC RECORDS ACCESS. 11
8.10. SCRUTINIZED COMPANIES. 12
8.11. SUSPENSION. 12

i
Page 60 of 115



CLEAN WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND PLANNING LOAN AGREEMENT

CONTENTS PAGE
8.12. CIVIL RIGHTS. 13
8.13. PROHIBITION ON CERTAIN TELECOMMUNICATIONS AND VIDEO
SURVEILLANCE SERVICES OR EQUIPMENT. 13

ARTICLE IX — CONTRACTS AND INSURANCE 13

ARTICLE X - DETAILS OF FINANCING 15
10.01. PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF LOAN. 15
10.02. RESERVED. 15
10.03. RESERVED. 15
10.04. RESERVED. 15
10.05. RESERVED. 15
10.06. PROJECT COSTS. 15
10.07. SCHEDULE. 15
10.08. SPECIAL CONDITIONS. 15

ARTICLE XI - EXECUTION OF AGREEMENT 17

il

Page 61 of 115



CLEAN WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND
PLANNING LOAN AGREEMENT
WW011810

THIS AGREEMENT is executed by the STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (Department) and the CITY OF GAINESVILLE,
FLORIDA (Local Government) existing as a local governmental entity under the laws of the
State of Florida. Collectively, the Department and the Local Government shall be referred to as
“Parties” or individually as “Party”.

RECITALS

Pursuant to Section 403.1835, Florida Statutes and Chapter 62-503, Florida Administrative
Code, the Department is authorized to make loans to finance the planning, design and
construction of wastewater pollution control facilities; and

Pursuant to the Capitalization Grant Award, the Department is authorized to allow Principal
Forgiveness on Loans funded by the Federal Clean Water Act or in an equivalent amount up to
the Capitalization Grant Award; and

The Local Government applied for the financing of Planning Activities and the Department has
determined that all requirements for a Loan and Principal Forgiveness have been met.

AGREEMENT

In consideration of the Department loaning money to the Local Government, in the principal
amount and pursuant to the covenants set forth below, it is agreed as follows:

ARTICLE I - DEFINITIONS
1.01. WORDS AND TERMS.
Words and terms used herein shall have the meanings set forth below:
(1) “Agreement” or “Loan Agreement” shall mean this agreement.

(2) “Authorized Representative” shall mean the official of the Local Government
authorized by ordinance or resolution to sign documents associated with the Loan.

(3) “Final Amendment” shall mean the final agreement executed between the parties that
establishes the final terms for the Loan such as the final Loan amount.

(4) “Final Unilateral Amendment” shall mean the Loan Agreement unilaterally finalized
by the Department after Loan Agreement and Project abandonment under Section 8.06 that
establishes the final amortization schedule for the Loan.

(5) “Financial Assistance” shall mean Principal Forgiveness funds or Loan funds.

1
Page 62 of 115



(6) “Gross Revenues” shall mean all income or earnings received by the Local
Government from the ownership or operation of its Utility System, including investment income,
all as calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Gross Revenues
shall not include proceeds from the sale or other disposition of any part of the Utility System,
condemnation awards or proceeds of insurance, except use and occupancy or business
interruption insurance, received with respect to the Utility System.

(7) “Loan” shall mean the amount of money to be loaned pursuant to this Agreement
and subsequent amendments.

(8) “Loan Application” shall mean the completed form which provides all information
required to support obtaining loan financial assistance from the Department.

(9) “Local Governmental Entity” means a county, municipality, special district, unit of
city government, or municipal agency.

(10) “Principal Forgiveness” shall mean the amount of money awarded pursuant to this
Agreement and subsequent amendments that is not to be repaid.

(11)“Project” shall mean the Planning Activities to address emerging contaminants.

(12)“Sewer System” shall mean all facilities owned by the Local Government for
collection, transmission, treatment and reuse of wastewater and its residuals.

(13) “Utility System” shall mean all devices and facilities of the Sewer System owned by
the Local Government.

1.02. CORRELATIVE WORDS.

Words of the masculine gender shall be understood to include correlative words of the
feminine and neuter genders. Unless the context shall otherwise indicate, the singular shall
include the plural and the word “person” shall include corporations and associations, including
public entities, as well as natural persons.

ARTICLE IT - WARRANTIES, REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS
2.01. WARRANTIES, REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS.
The Local Government warrants, represents and covenants that:

(1) The Local Government has full power and authority to enter into this Agreement and
to comply with the provisions hereof.

(2) Notwithstanding sections 2.01(2)(a)-(b) below, the Parties acknowledge that the
Local Government’s City Commission is actively pursuing a Charter Amendment to assume
legal control over Gainesville Regional Utilities (GRU), a unit of Local Government, from GRU;
and the two entities are engaged in, and may further engage in, litigation regarding the legal
control of GRU. Despite these proceedings, nothing therein seeks to restrain or enjoin GRU or

2
Page 63 of 115



its governing body from entering into or complying with agreements—only what governing body
will have ultimate legal control of GRU in the future.

(a) The Local Government currently is not the subject of bankruptcy, insolvency, or
reorganization proceedings and is not in default of, or otherwise subject to, any agreement or any
law, administrative regulation, judgment, decree, note, resolution, charter or ordinance which
would currently restrain or enjoin it from entering into, or complying with, this Agreement.

(b) There is no material action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation, at law or in
equity, before any court or public body, pending or, to the best of the Local Government's
knowledge, threatened, which seeks to restrain or enjoin the Local Government from entering
into or complying with this Agreement.

(3) The Local Government shall undertake the Project on its own responsibility, to the
extent permitted by law.

(4) To the extent permitted by law, the Local Government shall release and hold
harmless the State, its officers, members, and employees from any claim arising in connection
with the Local Government's actions or omissions in its Planning Activities financed by this
Loan.

(5) All Local Government representations to the Department, pursuant to the Loan
Application and Agreement, were true and accurate as of the date such representations were
made. The financial information delivered by the Local Government to the Department was
current and correct as of the date such information was delivered. The Local Government shall
comply with Chapter 62-503, Florida Administrative Code, and all applicable State and Federal
laws, rules, and regulations which are identified in the Loan Application or Agreement. To the
extent that any assurance, representation, or covenant requires a future action, the Local
Government shall take such action to comply with this agreement.

(6) The Local Government shall maintain records using generally accepted accounting
principles established by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. As part of its
bookkeeping system, the Local Government shall keep accounts of the Utility System separate
from all other accounts and it shall keep accurate records of all revenues, expenses, and
expenditures relating to the Utility System and Loan disbursement receipts.

(7) RESERVED.

(8) Pursuant to Section 216.347 of the Florida Statutes, the Local Government shall not
use the Loan proceeds for the purpose of lobbying the Florida Legislature, the Judicial Branch,
or a State agency.

(9) The Local Government agrees to complete the Planning Activities in accordance
with the schedule set forth in Section 10.07. Delays incident to strikes, riots, acts of God, and
other events beyond the reasonable control of the Local Government are excepted.

(10) The Local Government covenants that this Agreement is entered into for the purpose
of completing Planning Activities in order to construct facilities which will, in all events, serve a
public purpose.

3
Page 64 of 115



2.02. LEGAL AUTHORIZATION.

Upon signing this Agreement, the Local Government’s legal counsel hereby expresses
the opinion, subject to laws affecting the rights of creditors generally, that this Agreement has
been duly authorized by the Local Government’s Charter Article VII § 7.03(1)(a) shall constitute
a valid and legal obligation of the Local Government enforceable in accordance with its terms
upon execution by both parties.

2.03. AUDIT AND MONITORING REQUIREMENTS.
The Local Government agrees to the following audit and monitoring requirements.

(1) The financial assistance authorized pursuant to this Loan Agreement consists of the
following:

Federal Resources, Including State Match, Awarded to the Recipient Pursuant to this Agreement
Consist of the Following:

Federal State
Program Federal | CFDA Funding Appropriation
Number Agency | Number CFDA Title Amount Category
Capitalization Grants
4X-02D44024-0 EPA 66.458 for State Revolving $1,100,000 140131
Funds
(2) Audits.

(a) In the event that the Local Government expends $1,000,000 or more in Federal
awards in its fiscal year, the Local Government must have a Federal single audit or program
specific audit conducted in accordance with the provisions of 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F. In
determining the Federal awards expended in its fiscal year, the Local Government shall consider
all sources of Federal awards, including Federal resources received from the Department. The
determination of amounts of Federal awards expended should be in accordance with the
guidelines established by 2 CFR 200.502-503. An audit of the Local Government conducted by
the Auditor General in accordance with the provisions of 2 CFR 200.514 will meet the
requirements of this part.

(b) In connection with the audit requirements addressed in the preceding paragraph (a),
the Local Government shall fulfill the requirements relative to auditee responsibilities as
provided in 2 CFR 200.508-512.

(c) Ifthe Local Government expends less than $1,000,000 in Federal awards in its fiscal
year, an audit conducted in accordance with the provisions of 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F, is not
required. The Local Government shall inform the Department of findings and recommendations
pertaining to the State Revolving Fund in audits conducted by the Local Government. In the
event that the Local Government expends less than $1,000,000 in Federal awards in its fiscal
year and elects to have an audit conducted in accordance with the provisions of 2 CFR Part 200,
Subpart F, the cost of the audit must be paid from non-Federal resources (i.e., the cost of such an
audit must be paid from Local Government resources obtained from other than Federal entities).

4
Page 65 of 115




(d) The Local Government may access information regarding the Catalog of Federal
Domestic Assistance (CFDA) via the internet at https://sam.gov/.

(3) Report Submission.

(a) Copies of reporting packages for audits conducted in accordance with 2 CFR Part
200, Subpart F, and required by Subsection 2.03(2) of this Agreement shall be submitted, when
required by 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F, by or on behalf of the Local Government directly to each
of the following:

(1) The Department at one of the following addresses:

By Mail:
Audit Director
Florida Department of Environmental Protection
Office of the Inspector General, MS40
3900 Commonwealth Boulevard
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-30000

Electronically:
FDEPSingleAudit@dep.state.fl.us

(i1)) The Federal Audit Clearinghouse designated in 2 CFR Section 200.501(a) at the
following address:

https://harvester.census.gov/facweb/

(ii1) Other Federal agencies and pass-through entities in accordance with 2 CFR Section
200.512.

(b) Pursuant to 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F, the Local Government shall submit a copy of
the reporting package described in 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F, and any management letters
issued by the auditor, to the Department at the address listed under Subsection 2.03(3)(a)(i) of
this Agreement.

(c) Any reports, management letters, or other information required to be submitted to
the Department pursuant to this Agreement shall be submitted timely in accordance with 2 CFR
Part 200, Subpart F, Florida Statutes, or Chapters 10.550 (local governmental entities) or 10.650
(nonprofit and for-profit organizations), Rules of the Auditor General, as applicable.

(d) Local Governments, when submitting financial reporting packages to the
Department for audits done in accordance with 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F, or Chapters 10.550
(local governmental entities) or 10.650 (nonprofit and for-profit organizations), Rules of the
Auditor General, should indicate the date that the reporting package was delivered to the Local
Government in correspondence accompanying the reporting package.

(4) Record Retention.

The Local Government shall retain sufficient records demonstrating its compliance with
the terms of this Agreement for a period of five years from the date of the Final Amendment, and

5
Page 66 of 115



shall allow the Department, or its designee, Chief Financial Officer, or Auditor General access to
such records upon request. The Local Government shall ensure that working papers are made
available to the Department, or its designee, Chief Financial Officer, or Auditor General upon
request for a period of five years from the date of the Final Amendment, unless extended in
writing by the Department.

(5) Monitoring.

In addition to reviews of audits conducted in accordance with 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F,
as revised (see audit requirements above), monitoring procedures may include, but not be limited
to, on-site visits by Department staff, limited scope audits as defined by 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart
F., and/or other procedures. By entering into this Agreement, the Local Government agrees to
comply and cooperate with any monitoring procedures/processes deemed appropriate by the
Department. In the event the Department determines that a limited scope audit of the Local
Government is appropriate, the Local Government agrees to comply with any additional
instructions provided by the Department to the Local Government regarding such audit. The
Local Government understands its duty, pursuant to Section 20.055(5), F.S., to cooperate with
the Inspector General in any investigation, audit, inspection, review, or hearing. The Local
Government will comply with this duty and ensure that any subcontracts issued under this
Agreement will impose this requirement, in writing, on its subcontractors.

ARTICLE III - RESERVED
ARTICLE IV - PROJECT INFORMATION
4.01. RESERVED.
4.02. CLOSE-OUT.

The Department shall conduct a final inspection of the Planning Activities records.
Following the inspection, deadlines for submitting additional disbursement requests, if any, shall
be established, along with deadlines for uncompleted Loan or Principal Forgiveness
requirements, if any. Deadlines shall be incorporated into the Loan Agreement by amendment.
After the Department establishes the final costs to be financed by the Loan, the itemized costs
will be adjusted by amendment. The Loan principal shall be reduced by any excess over the
amount required to pay all approved costs.

4.03. LOAN DISBURSEMENTS.

Disbursements shall be made only by the State Chief Financial Officer and only when the
requests for such disbursements are accompanied by a Department certification that such
withdrawals are proper expenditures. Disbursements shall be made directly to the Local
Government for reimbursement of the incurred Planning costs and related services.
Disbursements for materials, labor, or services shall be made upon receipt of the following:

(1) A completed disbursement request form signed by the Authorized Representative.
Such requests must be accompanied by sufficiently itemized summaries of the materials, labor,
or services to identify the nature of the work performed; the cost or charges for such work; and
the person providing the service or performing the work; and proof of payment.

6
Page 67 of 115



(2) A certification signed by the Authorized Representative as to the current estimated
costs of the Project; that the materials, labor, or services represented by the invoice have been
satisfactorily purchased, performed, or received.

(3) Such other certificates or documents by engineers, attorneys, accountants,
contractors, or suppliers as may reasonably be required by the Department.

Requests by the Local Government for disbursements of the Planning funds shall be
made using the Department’s disbursement request form. The Department reserves the right to
retain 25% of the funds until the information necessary for the Department to prepare the
Environmental Information Document as described in Rule 62-503.751, Florida Administrative
Code, has been provided.

ARTICLE V - RATES AND USE OF THE UTILITY SYSTEM
5.01. RESERVED.
5.02. RESERVED.
5.03. RESERVED.
5.04. NO COMPETING SERVICE.

The Local Government shall not allow any person to provide any services which would
compete with the Utility System so as to adversely affect Gross Revenues.

5.05. MAINTENANCE OF THE UTILITY SYSTEM.

The Local Government shall operate and maintain the Utility System in a proper, sound
and economical manner and shall make all necessary repairs, renewals and replacements.

5.06. ADDITIONS AND MODIFICATIONS.

The Local Government may make any additions, modifications or improvements to the
Utility System which it deems desirable and which do not materially reduce the operational
integrity of any part of the Utility System. All such renewals, replacements, additions,
modifications and improvements shall become part of the Utility System.

5.07. RESERVED.
ARTICLE VI - DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES
6.01. EVENTS OF DEFAULT.

Upon the occurrence of any of the following events (the Events of Default) all obligations
on the part of Department to make any further disbursements hereunder shall, if Department
elects, terminate. The Department may, at its option, exercise any of its remedies set forth in this
Agreement, but Department may make any disbursements or parts of disbursements after the

7
Page 68 of 115



happening of any Event of Default without thereby waiving the right to exercise such remedies
and without becoming liable to make any further disbursement:

(1) RESERVED.

(2) Except as provided in Subsection 6.01(1), failure to comply with the provisions of
this Agreement, failure in the performance or observance of any of the covenants or actions
required by this Agreement or the Suspension of this Agreement by the Department pursuant to
Section 8.11 below, and such failure shall continue for a period of 30 days after written notice
thereof to the Local Government by the Department.

(3) Any warranty, representation or other statement by, or on behalf of, the Local
Government contained in this Agreement or in any information furnished in compliance with, or
in reference to, this Agreement, which is false or misleading, or if Local Government shall fail to
keep, observe or perform any of the terms, covenants, representations or warranties contained in
this Agreement, the Note, or any other document given in connection with the Loan (provided,
that with respect to non-monetary defaults, Department shall give written notice to Local
Government, which shall have 30 days to cure any such default), or is unable or unwilling to
meet its obligations thereunder.

(4) An order or decree entered, with the acquiescence of the Local Government,
appointing a receiver of any part of the Utility System or Gross Revenues thereof; or if such
order or decree, having been entered without the consent or acquiescence of the Local
Government, shall not be vacated or discharged or stayed on appeal within 60 days after the
entry thereof.

(5) Any proceeding instituted, with the acquiescence of the Local Government, for the
purpose of effecting a composition between the Local Government and its creditors or for the
purpose of adjusting the claims of such creditors, pursuant to any federal or state statute now or
hereafter enacted, if the claims of such creditors are payable from Gross Revenues of the Utility
System.

(6) Any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar proceeding instituted by, or against, the
Local Government under federal or state bankruptcy or insolvency law now or hereafter in effect
and, if instituted against the Local Government, is not dismissed within 60 days after filing.

(7) Any charge is brought alleging violations of any criminal law in the implementation
of the Project or the administration of the proceeds from this Loan against one or more officials
of the Local Government by a State or Federal law enforcement authority, which charges are not
withdrawn or dismissed within 60 days following the filing thereof.

(8) Failure of the Local Government to give immediate written notice of its knowledge
of a potential default or an event of default, hereunder, to the Department and such failure shall
continue for a period of 30 days.

6.02. REMEDIES.

All rights, remedies, and powers conferred in this Agreement and the transaction
documents are cumulative and are not exclusive of any other rights or remedies, and they shall

8
Page 69 of 115



be in addition to every other right, power, and remedy that Department may have, whether
specifically granted in this Agreement or any other transaction document, or existing at law, in
equity, or by statute. Any and all such rights and remedies may be exercised from time to time
and as often and in such order as Department may deem expedient. Upon any of the Events of
Default and subject to the rights of others having prior liens, the Department may enforce its
rights by, inter alia, any of the following remedies:

(1) By mandamus or other proceeding at law or in equity, cause to establish rates and
collect fees and charges for use of the Utility System, and to require the Local Government to
fulfill this Agreement.

(2) By action or suit in equity, require the Local Government to account for all moneys
received from the Department or from the ownership of the Utility System.

(3) By action or suit in equity, enjoin any acts or things which may be unlawful or in
violation of the rights of the Department.

(4) By applying to a court of competent jurisdiction, cause to appoint a receiver to
manage the Utility System, establish and collect fees and charges, and apply the revenues to the
reduction of the obligations under this Agreement.

(5) By certifying to the Auditor General and the Chief Financial Officer delinquency on
loan repayments, the Department may intercept the delinquent amount plus a penalty from any
unobligated funds due to the Local Government under any revenue or tax sharing fund
established by the State, except as otherwise provided by the State Constitution. The Department
may impose a penalty in an amount not to exceed an interest rate of 18 percent per annum on the
amount due in addition to charging the cost to handle and process the debt. Penalty interest shall
accrue on any amount due and payable beginning on the 30th day following the date upon which
payment is due.

(6) By notifying financial market credit rating agencies and potential creditors.

(7) By suing for payment of amounts due, or becoming due, with interest on overdue
payments together with all costs of collection, including attorneys' fees.

(8) By accelerating the repayment schedule or increasing the Financing Rate on the
unpaid principal of the Loan to as much as 1.667 times the Financing Rate.

6.03. DELAY AND WAIVER.

No course of dealing between Department and Local Government, or any failure or delay
on the part of Department in exercising any rights or remedies hereunder, shall operate as a
waiver of any rights or remedies of Department, and no single or partial exercise of any rights or
remedies hereunder shall operate as a waiver or preclude the exercise of any other rights or
remedies hereunder. No delay or omission by the Department to exercise any right or power
accruing upon Events of Default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be
a waiver of any such default or acquiescence therein, and every such right and power may be
exercised as often as may be deemed expedient. No waiver or any default under this Agreement

9
Page 70 of 115



shall extend to or affect any subsequent Events of Default, whether of the same or different
provision of this Agreement, or shall impair consequent rights or remedies.

ARTICLE VII - RESERVED.
ARTICLE VIII - GENERAL PROVISIONS
8.01. RESERVED.
8.02. PROJECT RECORDS AND STATEMENTS.

Books, records, reports, engineering documents, contract documents, and papers shall be
available to the authorized representatives of the Department for inspection at any reasonable
time after the Local Government has received a disbursement and until five years after the Final
Amendment date.

8.03. ACCESS TO PROJECT SITE.

The Local Government shall provide access to offices and other sites where Planning
Activities or Project work (if financed by this Loan) is ongoing, or has been performed, to
authorized representatives of the Department at any reasonable time. The Local Government
shall cause its engineers and contractors to provide copies of relevant records and statements for
inspection.

8.04. ASSIGNMENT OF RIGHTS UNDER AGREEMENT.

The Department may assign any part of its rights under this Agreement after notification
to the Local Government. The Local Government shall not assign rights created by this
Agreement without the written consent of the Department. Notwithstanding this provision, a
change in the governing body of the GRU shall not constitute an assignment because the rights
and obligations created by this agreement remain vested with the Local Government.

8.05. AMENDMENT OF AGREEMENT.

This Agreement may be amended, except that no amendment shall be permitted which is
inconsistent with statutes, rules, regulations, executive orders, or written agreements between the
Department and the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). A Final Amendment
establishing the final costs financed by this Loan and the actual Loan Service Fee shall be
completed after the Department’s final inspection of relevant documents and records.

8.06. ABANDONMENT, TERMINATION OR VOLUNTARY CANCELLATION.

Failure of the Local Government to actively prosecute or avail itself of this Loan
(including e.g. described in para 1 and 2 below) shall constitute its abrogation and abandonment
of the rights hereunder, and the Department may then, upon written notification to the Local
Government, suspend or terminate this Agreement.

10
Page 71 of 115



(1) Failure of the Local Government to draw Loan proceeds within eighteen months
after the effective date of this Agreement, or by the date set in Section 10.07 to establish the
Loan Debt Service Account, whichever date occurs first.

(2) Failure of the Local Government, after the initial Loan draw, to draw any funds
under the Loan Agreement for twenty-four months, without approved justification or
demonstrable progress on the Project.

Upon a determination of abandonment by the Department, the Loan will be suspended,
and the Department will implement administrative close out procedures (in lieu of those in
Section 4.02) and provide written notification of Final Unilateral Amendment to the Local
Government.

In the event that following the execution of this Agreement, the Local Government
decides not to proceed with this Loan, this Agreement can be cancelled by the Local
Government, without penalty, if no funds have been disbursed.

8.07. SEVERABILITY CLAUSE.

If any provision of this Agreement shall be held invalid or unenforceable, the remaining
provisions shall be construed and enforced as if such invalid or unenforceable provision had not
been contained herein.

8.08. SIGNAGE.

The Local Government agrees to comply with signage guidance in order to enhance
public awareness of EPA assistance agreements nationwide. A copy of this guidance is listed on
the Department’s webpage at https://floridadep.gov/wra/srf/content/state-revolving-fund-
resources-and-documents as “Guidance for Meeting EPA’s Signage Requirements”.

8.09. PUBLIC RECORDS ACCESS.

(1) The Local Government shall comply with Florida Public Records law under Chapter
119, F.S. Records made or received in conjunction with this Agreement are public records under
Florida law, as defined in Section 119.011(12), F.S. The Local Government shall keep and
maintain public records required by the Department to perform the services under this
Agreement.

(2) This Agreement may be unilaterally canceled by the Department for refusal by the
Local Government to either provide to the Department upon request, or to allow inspection and
copying of all public records made or received by the Local Government in conjunction with this
Agreement and subject to disclosure under Chapter 119, F.S., and Section 24(a), Article I,
Florida Constitution.

(3) IF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT HAS QUESTIONS
REGARDING THE APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA
STATUTES, TO THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT’S DUTY TO PROVIDE
PUBLIC RECORDS RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, CONTACT

11
Page 72 of 115



THE DEPARTMENT’S CUSTODIAN OF PUBLIC RECORDS AT
(850)245-2118, by email at public.services@dep.state.fl.us, or at the mailing
address below:

Department of Environmental Protection

ATTN: Office of Ombudsman and Public Services
Public Records Request

3900 Commonwealth Blvd, MS 49

Tallahassee, FL. 32399

8.10. SCRUTINIZED COMPANIES.

(1) The Local Government certifies that it and its subcontractors are not on the
Scrutinized Companies that Boycott Israel List. Pursuant to Section 287.135, F.S., the
Department may immediately terminate this Agreement at its sole option if the Local
Government or its subcontractors are found to have submitted a false certification; or if the Local
Government, or its subcontractors are placed on the Scrutinized Companies that Boycott Israel
List or is engaged in the boycott of Israel during the term of the Agreement.

(2) Ifthis Agreement is for more than one million dollars, the Local Government
certifies that it and its subcontractors are also not on the Scrutinized Companies with Activities
in Sudan, Scrutinized Companies with Activities in the Iran Petroleum Energy Sector List, or
engaged with business operations in Cuba or Syria as identified in Section 287.135, F.S.
Pursuant to Section 287.135, F.S., the Department may immediately terminate this Agreement at
its sole option if the Local Government, its affiliates, or its subcontractors are found to have
submitted a false certification; or if the Local Government, its affiliates, or its subcontractors that
are placed on the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in Sudan List, or Scrutinized Companies
with Activities in the Iran Petroleum Energy Sector List, or engaged with business operations in
Cuba or Syria during the term of the Agreement.

(3) The Local Government agrees to observe the above requirements for applicable
subcontracts entered into for the performance of work under this Agreement.

(4) As provided in Subsection 287.135(8), F.S., if federal law ceases to authorize these
contracting prohibitions then they shall become inoperative.

8.11. SUSPENSION.

The Department may suspend any or all of its obligations to Loan or provide financial
accommodation to the Local Government under this Agreement in the following events, as
determined by the Department:

(1) The Local Government abandons or discontinues the Project before its completion,

(2) The commencement, prosecution, or timely completion of the Project by the Local
Government is rendered improbable or the Department has reasonable grounds to be insecure in
Local Government’s ability to perform, or

12
Page 73 of 115



(3) The implementation of the Project is determined to be illegal, or one or more
officials of the Local Government in responsible charge of, or influence over, the Project is
charged with violating any criminal law in the implementation of the Project or the
administration of the proceeds from this Loan.

The Department shall notify the Local Government of any suspension by the Department
of its obligations under this Agreement, which suspension shall continue until such time as the
event or condition causing such suspension has ceased or been corrected, or the Department has
re-instated the Agreement.

Local Government shall have no more than 30 days following notice of suspension
hereunder to remove or correct the condition causing suspension. Failure to do so shall constitute
a default under this Agreement.

Following suspension of disbursements under this Agreement, the Department may
require reasonable assurance of future performance from Local Government prior to re-instating
the Loan. Such reasonable assurance may include, but not be limited to, a payment mechanism
using two party checks, escrow or obtaining a Performance Bond for the work remaining.

Following suspension, upon failure to cure, correct or provide reasonable assurance of
future performance by Local Government, the Department may exercise any remedy available to
it by this Agreement or otherwise and shall have no obligation to fund any remaining Loan
balance under this Agreement.

8.12. CIVIL RIGHTS.

The Local Government shall comply with all Title VI requirements of the Civil Rights
Act of 1964, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, which prohibit activities that are
intentionally discriminatory and/or have a discriminatory effect based on race, color, national
origin (including limited English proficiency), age, disability, or sex.

8.13. PROHIBITION ON CERTAIN TELECOMMUNICATIONS AND VIDEO
SURVEILLANCE SERVICES OR EQUIPMENT.

The Local Government and any contractors/subcontractors are prohibited from obligating
or expending any Loan or Principal Forgiveness funds to procure or obtain; extend or renew a
contract to procure or obtain; or enter into a contract (or extend or renew a contract) to procure or
obtain equipment, services, or systems that uses covered telecommunications equipment or
services as a substantial or essential component of any system, or as critical technology as part of
any system. See Section 889 of Public Law 115-232 (National Defense Authorization Act
2019). Also, see 2 CFR 200.216 and 200.471.

ARTICLE IX — CONTRACTS AND INSURANCE

9.01. CONTRACTS.

(1) The following documentation is required to receive the Department's authorization to
award construction contracts:

13
Page 74 of 115



(a) Proof of advertising.

(b) Award recommendation, bid proposal, and bid tabulation (certified by the
responsible engineer).

(c) Certification of compliance with the conditions of the Department's approval of
competitively or non-competitively negotiated procurement, if applicable.

(d) Certification Regarding Disbarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary
Exclusion.

(e) Certification by the Authorized Representative that affirmative steps were taken to
encourage Minority and Women’s Business Enterprises participation in Project construction.

(f) Current certifications for Minority and Women’s Business Enterprises participating
in the contract. If the goals as stated in the plans and specifications are not met, documentation
of actions taken shall be submitted.

(g) Certification that the Local Government and contractors are in compliance with
labor standards, including prevailing wage rates established for its locality by the DOL under the
Davis-Bacon Act for Project construction.

(2) The following must be provided to the Department for professional services
contract(s):

(a) Certification by the Authorized Representative that affirmative steps were taken to
encourage Minority and Women’s Business Enterprises participation.

(b) Current certifications for Minority and Women’s Business Enterprises participating
in the contract.

9.02. SUBMITTAL OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.

(1) After the Department's authorization to award construction contracts has been
received, the Local Government shall submit the following documents:

(a) Contractor insurance certifications.
(b) Executed Contract(s).
(c) Notices to proceed with construction.

(2) After the Local Government has awarded the professional services contract(s), the
Local Government shall submit the following documents:

(a) Executed Contract(s).

(b) Professional Services Procurement Certification.

14
Page 75 of 115



9.03. RESERVED.
ARTICLE X - DETAILS OF FINANCING
10.01. PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF LOAN.

The total amount awarded is $1,100,000. Of that, the estimated amount of Principal
Forgiveness is $1,100,000.

10.02. RESERVED.
10.03. RESERVED.
10.04. RESERVED.
10.05. RESERVED.
10.06. PROJECT COSTS.

The Local Government and the Department acknowledge that actual Project costs have
not been determined as of the effective date of this Agreement. An adjustment may be made due
to a reduction in the scope of work proposed for Loan funding as a result of the Planning
process. Capitalized Interest will be recalculated based on actual dates and amounts of Loan
disbursements. The final costs shall be established in the final amendment. Changes in costs
may also occur as a result of the Local Government's audit or the Department's audit.

The Local Government agrees to the following estimates of the Project costs:

CATEGORY PROJECT COSTS ($)
Planning Activities costs 1,100,000
Less Principal Forgiveness (1,100,000)

TOTAL (Loan Amount) 0

10.07. SCHEDULE.
All Planning Activities shall be completed no later than the date set forth below.

(1) Invoices submitted for work performed on or after August 14, 2024 may be eligible
for reimbursement.

(2) Completion of all Planning Activities for all Project facilities proposed for loan
funding no later than January 15, 2027.

10.08. SPECIAL CONDITIONS.
Prior to execution of this Agreement, the Local Government shall submit the following:

(1) A certified copy of the Resolution which authorizes the application and designates
an Authorized Representative for signing the application and executing the Loan Agreement; and

15
Page 76 of 115



(2) A completed Consultants’ Competitive Negotiation Act form.

REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

16
Page 77 of 115



ARTICLE XI - EXECUTION OF AGREEMENT

This Loan Agreement WWO011810 may be executed in two or more counterparts, any of

which shall be regarded as an original and all of which constitute but one and the same
instrument.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Department has caused this Agreement to be executed on
its behalf by the Secretary or Designee and the Local Government has caused this Agreement to
be executed on its behalf by its Authorized Representative and by its affixed seal. The effective
date of this Agreement shall be as set forth below by the Department.

for
CITY OF GAINESVILLE
Mayor
Sworn to and subscribed before me this  day of , 2025 by

, who [_] is personally known to me / [_| provided the following identification:

Notary Seal Notary Public

I attest to the opinion expressed in Section 2.02,
entitled Legal Authorization.

Attorney representing the Local Government

for

STATE OF FLORIDA
DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Secretary or Designee Date

17
Page 78 of 115



2025-981A

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-981B

A RESOLUTION OF THE GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES
AUTHORITY, A UNIT OF CITY GOVERNMENT OF THE CITY OF
GAINESVILLE, FLORIDA, RELATING TO THE STATE REVOLVING
FUND LOAN PROGRAM; MAKING FINDINGS; AUTHORIZING THE
LOAN APPLICATION; AUTHORIZING THE LOAN AGREEMENT;
ESTABLISHING PLEDGED REVENUES; AUTHORIZING THE
EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF, ONE OR MORE ESCROW DEPOSIT
AGREEMENTS WITH RESPECT THERETO; DESIGNATING
AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES; APPROVING THE SELECTION
OF AN ESCROW AGENT; PROVIDING ASSURANCES; PROVIDING
FOR CONFLICTS, SEVERABILITY, AND EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, Florida Statutes provide for loans to local government agencies to finance
the construction of wastewater treatment facilities; and

WHEREAS, Florida Administrative Code rules require authorization to apply for loans,
to establish pledged revenues, to designate an authorized representative; to provide assurances of
compliance with loan program requirements; and to enter into a loan agreement; and

WHEREAS, the State Revolving Fund loan priority list designates Project No. LS010210
as eligible for available funding; and

WHEREAS, the Gainesville Regional Utilities Authority (“Authority”), a Unit of City
Government of the City of Gainesville, Florida, intends to enter into a loan agreement (the "Loan
Agreement") with the Department of Environmental Protection (“DEP”’) under the State Revolving
Fund for project financing pursuant to which DEP will make a loan to the Authority (the “Loan”);
and

WHEREAS, the City of Gainesville, Florida (the “City”), will be responsible for 51% of
the loan and the balance of the loan will be forgivable in accordance with the terms of the Loan
Agreement and such forgivable portion shall be treated as a grant for all purposes;

WHEREAS, the Loan Agreement provides that the obligations under the Loan may be
defeased without penalty by depositing sufficient cash into an irrevocable trust with a banking
institution or trust company for the sole benefit of DEP in an amount equal to the principal balance
of the Loan and service fee (there is no interest on the loan);

WHEREAS, the Authority intends to simultaneously with the issuance of the Loan defease
its obligations thereunder by depositing cash in an amount equal to the principal balance of the
Loan and the service fee (there is no interest on the loan) which is the non-forgivable portion,
under an Escrow Deposit Agreement between the Authority and an escrow agent, the form thereto
being attached hereto as Exhibit “B” (the “Escrow Deposit Agreement”);

WHEREAS, pursuant to section 2, article 7.01, Ch. 2023-348, Laws of Florida (“Special
Act”), the Authority shall operate as a Unit of City Government and, except as otherwise provided
in the Special Act, shall be free from direction and control of the Gainesville City Commission.

Page 1 of 5
Page 79 of 115



The Authority is created for the express purpose of managing, operating, controlling, and
otherwise having broad authority with respect to the utilities owned by the City of Gainesville; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to section 2, article 7.03(e) of the Special Act, the Authority is
authorized to issue evidences of indebtedness of the City of Gainesville secured by the revenues
and pledged funds and accounts of the utility system, pursuant to Florida Law; and

the City Commission of the City (the “Commission’) adopted Resolution No. 2023-1186
on December 22, 2023 (the “Transition Resolution”) to effectuate the orderly transition of the
governance, operation, management, and control of all utility systems, properties and assets related
to the System to the Authority.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GAINESVILLE REGIONAL
UTILITIES AUTHORITY, A UNIT OF CITY GOVERNMENT OF THE CITY OF
GAINESVILLE, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION I. The foregoing findings are incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof.

SECTION II. The Authority, a Unit of City Government of the City of Gainesville, Florida, is
authorized to apply for a loan to finance the Project.

SECTION III. The form of the Loan Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit “A” is hereby
approved, subject to such changes, insertions and omissions and filling of blanks therein, as may
be approved and made in such form of Loan Agreement by the officers of the Authority executing
the same, in a manner consistent with the provisions of this Resolution, such execution to be
conclusive evidence of such approval. The Escrow Deposit Agreement, in such form as may be
approved by the officers of the Authority executing the same, in a manner consistent with the
provisions of this Resolution is hereby approved and such execution to be conclusive evidence of
such approval.

SECTION IV. The Gainesville Regional Utilities Authority’s Chief Executive Officer/General
Manager is hereby designated as the authorized representative and agent of the City of Gainesville
to provide the assurances and commitments required by the loan application. U.S. Bank National
Association is hereby selected and appointed as escrow agent to serve under the Escrow Deposit
Agreement.

SECTION V. The Gainesville Regional Utilities Authority’s Chief Executive Officer/General
Manager is hereby designated as the authorized representative and agent of the City of Gainesville
to execute the Loan Agreement and Escrow Deposit Agreement which will become a binding
obligation in accordance with its terms when signed by both parties. The Gainesville Regional
Utilities Authority’s Chief Executive Officer/General Manager is authorized to represent and act
as an agent of the City of Gainesville in carrying out the City of Gainesville and its Authority’s
responsibilities under the Loan Agreement. The Chief Executive Officer/General Manager is
authorized to delegate responsibility to appropriate Authority staff to carry out technical, financial,
and administrative activities associated with the Loan Agreement.

SECTION VI. Although governing bodies of municipalities are generally authorized to borrow
pursuant to section 166.111, Florida Statutes, the specific legal authority for the Authority’s

Page 2 of 5
Page 80 of 115



borrowing moneys to construct this Project is section 2, article 7.03(e), Ch. 2023-348, Laws of
Florida, and Article VII, section 7.03(e) of Gainesville’s City Charter.

SECTION VII. All resolutions or part of Resolutions in conflict with any of the provisions of this
Resolution are hereby repealed.

SECTION VIII. If any section or portion of a section of this Resolution proves to be invalid,
unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the validity, force, or effect
of any other section or part of this Resolution.

SECTION IX. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its passage and adoption.

PASSED and ADOPTED this 10th day of December 2025.

GAINESVILLE REGIONAL UTILITIES

AUTHORITY
By:
Approved as to Form and Legality: Eric Lawson, Chair
Derek D. Perry
Utilities Attorney
Page 3 of 5

Page 81 of 115



EXHIBIT A

FORM LOAN AGREEMENT

Page 4 of 5
Page 82 of 115



STATE OF FLORIDA
DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

AND

CITY OF GAINESVILLE, FLORIDA

DRINKING WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND
PLANNING AND DESIGN LOAN AGREEMENT
LS010210

Florida Department of Environmental Protection
State Revolving Fund Program
Marjory Stoneman Douglas Building
3900 Commonwealth Boulevard, MS 3505
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-3000

Page 83 of 115




DRINKING WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND PLANNING AND DESIGN LOAN

AGREEMENT

CONTENTS

PAGE

ARTICLE I - DEFINITIONS
1.01. WORDS AND TERMS.
1.02. CORRELATIVE WORDS.

ARTICLE II - WARRANTIES, REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS
2.01. WARRANTIES, REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS.
2.02. LEGAL AUTHORIZATION.
2.03. AUDIT AND MONITORING REQUIREMENTS.

ARTICLE IIT - LOAN REPAYMENT ACCOUNT
3.01. LOAN REPAYMENT ESCROW ACCOUNT.
3.02. RESTORATION OF LOAN REPAYMENT ESCROW ACCOUNT.
3.03. INVESTMENT OF LOAN REPAYMENT RESERVE MONEYS.
3.04. LOAN REPAYMENT ESCROW ACCOUNT WITHDRAWALS.
3.05. ASSETS HELD IN TRUST.

ARTICLE IV - PROJECT INFORMATION
4.01. PROJECT CHANGES.
4.02. CLOSE-OUT.
4.03. DISBURSEMENTS.

ARTICLE V - RATES AND USE OF THE UTILITY SYSTEM
5.01. RESERVED.
5.02. NO FREE SERVICE.
5.03. RESERVED.
5.04. NO COMPETING SERVICE.
5.05. MAINTENANCE OF THE UTILITY SYSTEM.
5.06. ADDITIONS AND MODIFICATIONS.
5.07. COLLECTION OF REVENUES.

ARTICLE VI - DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES
6.01. EVENTS OF DEFAULT.
6.02. REMEDIES.
6.03. DELAY AND WAIVER.

ARTICLE VII - RESERVED

ARTICLE VIII - GENERAL PROVISIONS
8.01. RESERVED.
8.02. PROJECT RECORDS AND STATEMENTS.
8.03. ACCESS TO PROJECT SITE.
8.04. ASSIGNMENT OF RIGHTS UNDER AGREEMENT.

i
Page 84 of 115

U9 bt

O OO0 0 o0 000 d I WDn W W W

O O O O O O O O

12

12
12
12
12
12



DRINKING WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND PLANNING AND DESIGN LOAN

AGREEMENT
CONTENTS PAGE
8.05. AMENDMENT OF AGREEMENT. 12
8.06. ABANDONMENT, TERMINATION OR VOLUNTARY CANCELLATION. 13
8.07. SEVERABILITY CLAUSE. 13
8.08. SIGNAGE. 13
8.09. PUBLIC RECORDS ACCESS. 13
8.10. SCRUTINIZED COMPANIES. 14
8.11. SUSPENSION. 15
8.12. CIVIL RIGHTS. 15
8.13. PROHIBITION ON CERTAIN TELECOMMUNICATIONS AND VIDEO
SURVEILLANCE SERVICES OR EQUIPMENT. 16
ARTICLE IX — CONTRACTS AND INSURANCE 16
9.01. CONTRACTS. 16
9.02. SUBMITTAL OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. 17
9.03. RESERVED. 17
ARTICLE X - DETAILS OF FINANCING 17
10.01. PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF LOAN. 17
10.02. LOAN SERVICE FEE. 17
10.03. INTEREST RATE. 17
10.04. LOAN TERM. 18
10.05. REPAYMENT SCHEDULE. 18
10.06. PROJECT COSTS. 18
10.07. SCHEDULE. 18
10.08. SPECIAL CONDITIONS. 19
ARTICLE XI - EXECUTION OF AGREEMENT 20

ii
Page 85 of 115



DRINKING WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND
PLANNING AND DESIGN LOAN AGREEMENT
LS010210
THIS AGREEMENT is executed by the STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (Department) and the CITY OF GAINESVILLE,
FLORIDA, (Project Sponsor) existing as a local governmental entity under the laws of the State

of Florida. Collectively, the Department and the Project Sponsor shall be referred to as “Parties”
or individually as “Party”.

RECITALS

Pursuant to Section 403.8532, Florida Statutes and Chapter 62-552, Florida Administrative Code,
the Department is authorized to make loans to finance the planning, design and construction of
public water systems; and

The Department is authorized to allow Principal Forgiveness on Loans funded by the Federal Safe
Drinking Water Act; and

The Project Sponsor applied for the financing of Planning and Design Activities, and the
Department has determined that all requirements for a Loan and Principal Forgiveness have been
met.

AGREEMENT

In consideration of the Department loaning money to the Project Sponsor, in the principal amount
and pursuant to the covenants set forth below, it is agreed as follows:

ARTICLE I - DEFINITIONS
1.01. WORDS AND TERMS.
Words and terms used herein shall have the meanings set forth below:
(1) “Agreement” or “Loan Agreement” shall mean this agreement.

(2) “Authorized Representative” shall mean the official of the Project Sponsor authorized
by ordinance or resolution to sign documents associated with the Loan.

(3) “Capitalized Interest” shall mean the interest accruing on Loan proceeds from the
time of disbursement until six months before the Loan Payment is due. Capitalized Interest is
financed as part of the Loan principal.

(4) “Depository” shall mean a bank or trust company, having a combined capital and
unimpaired surplus of not less than $50 million, authorized to transact commercial banking or
savings and loan business in the State of Florida and insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation.

1
Page 86 of 115



(5) “Design Activities” shall mean the design of work defined in the approved planning
document that will result in plans and specifications, ready for permitting and bidding, for an
eligible construction project.

(6) “Final Amendment” shall mean the final agreement executed between the parties that
establishes the final terms for the Loan such as the final Loan amount, the Financing Rate, Loan
Service Fee, and Loan Payment amount.

(7) “Final Unilateral Amendment” shall mean the Loan Agreement unilaterally finalized
by the Department after Loan Agreement and Project abandonment under Section 8.06 that
establishes the final amortization schedule for the Loan.

(8) “Financial Assistance” shall mean Principal Forgiveness funds or Loan funds.

(9) “Gross Revenues” shall mean all income or earnings received by the Project Sponsor
from the ownership or operation of its Utility System, including investment income, all as
calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Gross Revenues shall not
include proceeds from the sale or other disposition of any part of the Utility System,
condemnation awards or proceeds of insurance, except use and occupancy or business
interruption insurance, received with respect to the Utility System.

(10) “Loan” shall mean the amount of money to be loaned pursuant to this Agreement and
subsequent amendments.

(11) “Loan Application” shall mean the completed form which provides all information
required to support obtaining loan financial assistance from the Department.

(12) “Loan Payment” shall mean the payment due from the Project Sponsor to the
Department.

(13) “Loan Repayment Escrow Account” or “Loan Repayment Escrow” shall mean an
interest-bearing account, established and maintained, into which will be deposited the amount set
aside as Pledged Revenues to pay the Loan.

(14) “Loan Service Fee” shall mean an origination fee which shall be paid to the
Department by the Project Sponsor.

(15) “Local Governmental Entity” means a county, municipality, special district, unit of
city government, or municipal agency.

(16) “Monthly Loan Deposit” shall mean the monthly deposit to be made by the Project
Sponsor to the Loan Debt Service Account.

(17) “Operation and Maintenance Expense” shall mean the costs of operating and
maintaining the Utility System determined pursuant to generally accepted accounting principles,
exclusive of interest on any debt payable from Gross Revenues, depreciation, and any other items
not requiring the expenditure of cash.

2
Page 87 of 115



(18) “Planning Activities” shall mean the planning or administrative work necessary for
the Project Sponsor to qualify for Drinking Water State Revolving Fund financing for inventory
and replacement of lead service lines.

(19) “Pledged Revenues” shall mean the specific revenues pledged as security for
repayment of the Loan and shall be deposited in the Loan Repayment Escrow Account in the
amount of $822,931.

(20) “Principal Forgiveness” shall mean the amount of money awarded pursuant to this
Agreement and subsequent amendments that is not to be repaid.

(21) “Project” shall mean the Planning and Design Activities for lead service lines
inventory and replacement. This Project is a Capitalization Grant Project as defined in Chapter
62-552, Florida Administrative Code.

(22) “Utility System” shall mean all devices and facilities of the Water System owned by
the Project Sponsor.

(23) “Water System” shall mean all facilities owned by the Project Sponsor for supplying
and distributing water for residential, commercial, industrial, and governmental use.

1.02. CORRELATIVE WORDS.

Words of the masculine gender shall be understood to include correlative words of the
feminine and neuter genders. Unless the context shall otherwise indicate, the singular shall
include the plural and the word “person” shall include corporations and associations, including
public entities, as well as natural persons.

ARTICLE IT - WARRANTIES, REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS
2.01. WARRANTIES, REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS.
The Project Sponsor warrants, represents and covenants that:

(1) The Project Sponsor has full power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to
comply with the provisions hereof.

(2) Notwithstanding sections 2.01(2)(a)-(b) below, the Parties acknowledge that the
Project Sponsor’s City Commission is actively pursuing a Charter Amendment to assume legal
control over Gainesville Regional Utilities (GRU), a unit of Local Government, from GRU; and
the two entities are engaged in, and may further engage in, litigation regarding the legal control of
GRU. Despite these proceedings, nothing therein seeks to restrain or enjoin GRU or its governing
body from entering into or complying with agreements—only what governing body will have
ultimate legal control of GRU in the future. All past, existing, and future agreements remain and
will remain valid and vested with the Project Sponsor despite any potential change in the
governing body of GRU.

3
Page 88 of 115



(a) The Project Sponsor currently is not the subject of bankruptcy, insolvency, or
reorganization proceedings and is not in default of, or otherwise subject to, any agreement or any
law, administrative regulation, judgment, decree, note, resolution, charter or ordinance which
would currently restrain or enjoin it from entering into, or complying with, this Agreement.

(b) There is no material action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation, at law or in
equity, before any court or public body, pending or, to the best of the Project Sponsor’s
knowledge, threatened, which seeks to restrain or enjoin the Project Sponsor from entering into or
complying with this Agreement.

(3) The Project Sponsor shall undertake the Project on its own responsibility, to the extent
permitted by law.

(4) To the extent permitted by law, the Project Sponsor shall release and hold harmless the
State, its officers, members, and employees from any claim arising in connection with the Project
Sponsor's actions or omissions in its Planning and Design Activities financed by this Loan.

(5) All Project Sponsor representations to the Department, pursuant to the Loan
Application and Agreement, were true and accurate as of the date such representations were
made. The financial information delivered by the Project Sponsor to the Department was current
and correct as of the date such information was delivered. The Project Sponsor shall comply with
Chapter 62-552, Florida Administrative Code, and all applicable State and Federal laws, rules,
and regulations which are identified in the Loan Application or Agreement. To the extent that any
assurance, representation, or covenant requires a future action, the Project Sponsor shall take such
action to comply with this agreement.

(6) The Project Sponsor shall maintain records using generally accepted accounting
principles established by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. As part of its
bookkeeping system, the Project Sponsor shall keep accounts of the Utility System separate from
all other accounts and it shall keep accurate records of all revenues, expenses, and expenditures
relating to the Utility System, and of the Pledged Revenues, and Loan disbursement receipts.

(7) RESERVED.

(8) Pursuant to Section 216.347 of the Florida Statutes, the Project Sponsor shall not use
the Loan proceeds for the purpose of lobbying the Florida Legislature, the Judicial Branch, or a
State agency.

(9) The Project Sponsor agrees to complete the Planning and Design Activities in
accordance with the schedule set forth in Section 10.07. Delays incident to strikes, riots, acts of
God, and other events beyond the reasonable control of the Project Sponsor are excepted.
However, there shall be no resulting diminution or delay in the Loan Payment or the Monthly
Loan Deposit.

(10) The Project Sponsor covenants that this Agreement is entered into for the purpose of

completing Planning and Design Activities in order to construct facilities which will, in all events,
serve a public purpose.

4
Page 89 of 115



2.02. LEGAL AUTHORIZATION.

(1) Upon signing this Agreement, the Project Sponsor’s legal counsel hereby expresses
the opinion, subject to laws affecting the rights of creditors generally, that this Agreement has
been duly authorized by the Project Sponsor and shall constitute a valid and legal obligation of
the Project Sponsor enforceable in accordance with its terms upon execution by both parties.

2.03. AUDIT AND MONITORING REQUIREMENTS.
The Project Sponsor agrees to the following audit and monitoring requirements.

(1) The financial assistance authorized pursuant to this Loan Agreement consists of the
following:

Federal Resources, Including State Match, Awarded to the Recipient Pursuant to this Agreement
Consist of the Following:

State
Federal Program | Federal | CFDA Funding Appropriation
Number Agency | Number CFDA Title Amount Category
Capitalization Grants
4L-02D68124-0 | EPA | 66468 | 1o Drinking Water | - gs,7 405 149952
State Revolving
Fund

2) Audits.

(a) In the event that the Project Sponsor expends $1,000,000 or more in Federal awards
in its fiscal year, the Project Sponsor must have a Federal single audit or program specific audit
conducted in accordance with the provisions of 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F. In determining the
Federal awards expended in its fiscal year, the Project Sponsor shall consider all sources of
Federal awards, including Federal resources received from the Department. The determination of
amounts of Federal awards expended should be in accordance with the guidelines established by 2
CFR 200.502-503. An audit of the Project Sponsor conducted by the Auditor General in
accordance with the provisions of 2 CFR 200.514 will meet the requirements of this part.

(b) In connection with the audit requirements addressed in the preceding paragraph (a),
the Project Sponsor shall fulfill the requirements relative to auditee responsibilities as provided in
2 CFR 200.508-512.

(c) Ifthe Project Sponsor expends less than $1,000,000 in Federal awards in its fiscal
year, an audit conducted in accordance with the provisions of 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F, is not
required. The Project Sponsor shall inform the Department of findings and recommendations
pertaining to the State Revolving Fund in audits conducted by the Project Sponsor. In the event
that the Project Sponsor expends less than $1,000,000 in Federal awards in its fiscal year and
elects to have an audit conducted in accordance with the provisions of 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F,
the cost of the audit must be paid from non-Federal resources (i.e., the cost of such an audit must
be paid from Project Sponsor resources obtained from other than Federal entities).

5
Page 90 of 115




(d) The Project Sponsor may access information regarding the Catalog of Federal
Domestic Assistance (CFDA) via the internet at https://sam.gov/.

(3) Report Submission.

(a) Copies of reporting packages for audits conducted in accordance with 2 CFR Part
200, Subpart F, and required by Subsection 2.03(2) of this Agreement shall be submitted, when
required by 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F, by or on behalf of the Project Sponsor directly to each of
the following:

(1) The Department at one of the following addresses:

By Mail:
Audit Director
Florida Department of Environmental Protection
Office of the Inspector General, MS40
3900 Commonwealth Boulevard
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-30000

Electronically:
FDEPSingleAudit@dep.state.fl.us

(i1) The Federal Audit Clearinghouse designated in 2 CFR Section 200.501(a) at the
following address:

https://harvester.census.gov/facweb/

(ii1) Other Federal agencies and pass-through entities in accordance with 2 CFR Section
200.512.

(b) Pursuant to 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F, the Project Sponsor shall submit a copy of the
reporting package described in 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F, and any management letters issued by
the auditor, to the Department at the address listed under Subsection 2.03(3)(a)(i) of this
Agreement.

(c) Any reports, management letters, or other information required to be submitted to the
Department pursuant to this Agreement shall be submitted timely in accordance with 2 CFR Part
200, Subpart F, Florida Statutes, or Chapters 10.550 (local governmental entities) or 10.650
(nonprofit and for-profit organizations), Rules of the Auditor General, as applicable.

(d) Project Sponsors, when submitting financial reporting packages to the Department for
audits done in accordance with 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F, or Chapters 10.550 (local
governmental entities) or 10.650 (nonprofit and for-profit organizations), Rules of the Auditor
General, should indicate the date that the reporting package was delivered to the Project Sponsor
in correspondence accompanying the reporting package.

6
Page 91 of 115


https://sam.gov/
mailto:FDEPSingleAudit@dep.state.fl.us
https://harvester.census.gov/facweb/

(4) Record Retention.

The Project Sponsor shall retain sufficient records demonstrating its compliance with the
terms of this Agreement for a period of five years from the date of the Final Amendment, and
shall allow the Department, or its designee, Chief Financial Officer, or Auditor General access to
such records upon request. The Project Sponsor shall ensure that working papers are made
available to the Department, or its designee, Chief Financial Officer, or Auditor General upon
request for a period of five years from the date of the Final Amendment, unless extended in
writing by the Department.

(5) Monitoring.

In addition to reviews of audits conducted in accordance with 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F,
as revised (see audit requirements above), monitoring procedures may include, but not be limited
to, on-site visits by Department staff, limited scope audits as defined by 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart
F., and/or other procedures. By entering into this Agreement, the Project Sponsor agrees to
comply and cooperate with any monitoring procedures/processes deemed appropriate by the
Department. In the event the Department determines that a limited scope audit of the Project
Sponsor is appropriate, the Project Sponsor agrees to comply with any additional instructions
provided by the Department to the Project Sponsor regarding such audit. The Project Sponsor
understands its duty, pursuant to Section 20.055(5), F.S., to cooperate with the Inspector General
in any investigation, audit, inspection, review, or hearing. The Project Sponsor will comply with
this duty and ensure that any subcontracts issued under this Agreement will impose this
requirement, in writing, on its subcontractors.

ARTICLE III - LOAN REPAYMENT ACCOUNT
3.01. LOAN REPAYMENT ESCROW ACCOUNT.

The Project Sponsor shall establish a Loan Repayment Escrow Account with a
Depository. The Project Sponsor shall deposit into the account the reserve amount identified in
Section 10.07 of this Agreement by the date set forth therein. Loan Repayment Escrow Account
funds shall be used to make the Loan Payment as identified in Section 10.05. A letter restricting
withdrawals from the account must be provided prior to any funds being disbursed.

3.02. RESTORATION OF LOAN REPAYMENT ESCROW ACCOUNT.

A default causing the Project Sponsor to use the Loan Repayment Escrow Account or the
use of the account to prevent default shall result in the Project Sponsor being responsible for
making special deposits to restore the account. Special restoration deposits shall be made from
the first moneys legally available to the Project Sponsor for such purpose.

3.03. INVESTMENT OF LOAN REPAYMENT RESERVE MONEYS.

Moneys on deposit in the Loan Repayment Escrow Account shall be invested pursuant to
the laws of the State of Florida. Such moneys may be pooled for investment purposes. The
maturity or redemption date of investments shall be not later than the date set for the final Loan
Payment provided, however, that moneys must be available for withdrawal, if necessary, pursuant

7
Page 92 of 115



to Section 3.05 of this Agreement. All investment income and earnings shall be credited to the
Loan Repayment Escrow Account.

3.04. LOAN REPAYMENT ESCROW ACCOUNT WITHDRAWALS.

The withdrawal of moneys from the Loan Repayment Escrow Account shall be for the
sole purpose of making the Loan Payment.

3.05. ASSETS HELD IN TRUST.

The assets in all accounts created under this Loan Agreement shall be held in trust for the
purposes provided herein and used only for the purposes and in the manner prescribed in this
Agreement; and, pending such use, said assets shall be subject to a lien and charge in favor of the
Department.

ARTICLE IV - PROJECT INFORMATION
4.01. PROJECT CHANGES.

After the Department's environmental review has been completed, the Project Sponsor
shall promptly notify the Department, in writing, of any Project change that would require a
modification to the environmental information document.

4.02. CLOSE-OUT.

The Department shall conduct a final inspection of the Planning and Design Activities
records. Following the inspection, deadlines for submitting additional disbursement requests, if
any, shall be established, along with deadlines for uncompleted Loan or Principal Forgiveness
requirements, if any. Deadlines shall be incorporated into the Loan Agreement by amendment.
After the Department establishes the final costs to be financed by the Loan, the itemized costs will
be adjusted by amendment. The Loan principal shall be reduced by any excess over the amount
required to pay all approved costs. As a result of such adjustment, the Loan Payment shall be
reduced accordingly, as addressed in Section 10.05.

4.03. DISBURSEMENTS.

Disbursements shall be made only by the State Chief Financial Officer and only when the
requests for such disbursements are accompanied by a Department certification that such
withdrawals are proper expenditures. Disbursements shall be made directly to the Project
Sponsor for reimbursement of the incurred planning and design costs and related services.
Disbursements for materials, labor, or services shall be made upon receipt of the following:

(1) A completed disbursement request form signed by the Authorized Representative.
Such requests must be accompanied by sufficiently itemized summaries of the materials, labor, or
services to identify the nature of the work performed; the cost or charges for such work; and the
person providing the service or performing the work; and proof of payment.

8
Page 93 of 115



(2) A certification signed by the Authorized Representative as to the current estimated
costs of the Project; that the materials, labor, or services represented by the invoice have been
satisfactorily purchased, performed, or received.

(3) Such other certificates or documents by engineers, attorneys, accountants,
contractors, or suppliers as may reasonably be required by the Department.

Requests by the Project Sponsor for disbursements of the planning and design funds shall
be made using the Department’s disbursement request form. The Department reserves the right to
retain 25% of the funds until the information necessary for the Department to prepare the
Environmental Information Document as described in Rule 62-552.680, Florida Administrative
Code, has been provided.

ARTICLE V - RATES AND USE OF THE UTILITY SYSTEM
5.01. RESERVED.
5.02. NO FREE SERVICE.

The Project Sponsor shall not permit connections to, or furnish any services afforded by,
the Utility System without making a charge therefore based on the Project Sponsor's uniform
schedule of rates, fees, and charges.

5.03. RESERVED.
5.04. NO COMPETING SERVICE.

The Project Sponsor shall not allow any person to provide any services which would
compete with the Utility System so as to adversely affect Gross Revenues.

5.05. MAINTENANCE OF THE UTILITY SYSTEM.

The Project Sponsor shall operate and maintain the Utility System in a proper, sound and
economical manner and shall make all necessary repairs, renewals and replacements.

5.06. ADDITIONS AND MODIFICATIONS.

The Project Sponsor may make any additions, modifications or improvements to the
Utility System which it deems desirable and which do not materially reduce the operational
integrity of any part of the Utility System. All such renewals, replacements, additions,
modifications and improvements shall become part of the Utility System.

5.07. COLLECTION OF REVENUES.

The Project Sponsor shall use its best efforts to collect all rates, fees and other charges due
to it. The Project Sponsor shall establish liens on premises served by the Utility System for the
amount of all delinquent rates, fees and other charges where such action is permitted by law. The
Project Sponsor shall, to the full extent permitted by law, cause to discontinue the services of the

9
Page 94 of 115



Utility System and use its best efforts to shut off water service furnished to persons who are
delinquent beyond customary grace periods in the payment of Utility System rates, fees and other
charges.

ARTICLE VI - DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES
6.01. EVENTS OF DEFAULT.

Upon the occurrence of any of the following events (the Events of Default) all obligations
on the part of Department to make any further disbursements hereunder shall, if Department
elects, terminate. The Department may, at its option, exercise any of its remedies set forth in this
Agreement, but Department may make any disbursements or parts of disbursements after the
happening of any Event of Default without thereby waiving the right to exercise such remedies
and without becoming liable to make any further disbursement:

(1) Failure to make any Monthly Loan Deposit or to make any installment of the Loan
Payment when it is due and such failure shall continue for a period of 15 days.

(2) Except as provided in Subsection 6.01(1) failure to comply with the provisions of this
Agreement, failure in the performance or observance of any of the covenants or actions required
by this Agreement or the Suspension of this Agreement by the Department pursuant to Section
8.11 below, and such failure shall continue for a period of 30 days after written notice thereof to
the Project Sponsor by the Department.

(3) Any warranty, representation or other statement by, or on behalf of, the Project
Sponsor contained in this Agreement or in any information furnished in compliance with, or in
reference to, this Agreement, which is false or misleading, or if Project Sponsor shall fail to keep,
observe or perform any of the terms, covenants, representations or warranties contained in this
Agreement, the Note, or any other document given in connection with the Loan (provided, that
with respect to non-monetary defaults, Department shall give written notice to Project Sponsor,
which shall have 30 days to cure any such default), or is unable or unwilling to meet its
obligations thereunder.

(4) An order or decree entered, with the acquiescence of the Project Sponsor, appointing
a receiver of any part of the Utility System or Gross Revenues thereof; or if such order or decree,
having been entered without the consent or acquiescence of the Project Sponsor, shall not be
vacated or discharged or stayed on appeal within 60 days after the entry thereof.

(5) Any proceeding instituted, with the acquiescence of the Project Sponsor, for the
purpose of effecting a composition between the Project Sponsor and its creditors or for the
purpose of adjusting the claims of such creditors, pursuant to any federal or state statute now or
hereafter enacted, if the claims of such creditors are payable from Gross Revenues of the Utility
System.

(6) Any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar proceeding instituted by, or against, the
Project Sponsor under federal or state bankruptcy or insolvency law now or hereafter in effect
and, if instituted against the Project Sponsor, is not dismissed within 60 days after filing.

10
Page 95 of 115



(7) Any charge is brought alleging violations of any criminal law in the implementation
of the Project or the administration of the proceeds from this Loan against one or more officials of
the Project Sponsor by a State or Federal law enforcement authority, which charges are not
withdrawn or dismissed within 60 days following the filing thereof.

(8) Failure of the Project Sponsor to give immediate written notice of its knowledge of a
potential default or an event of default, hereunder, to the Department and such failure shall
continue for a period of 30 days.

6.02. REMEDIES.

All rights, remedies, and powers conferred in this Agreement and the transaction
documents are cumulative and are not exclusive of any other rights or remedies, and they shall be
in addition to every other right, power, and remedy that Department may have, whether
specifically granted in this Agreement or any other transaction document, or existing at law, in
equity, or by statute. Any and all such rights and remedies may be exercised from time to time
and as often and in such order as Department may deem expedient. Upon any of the Events of
Default and subject to the rights of others having prior liens on the Pledged Revenues, the
Department may enforce its rights by, infer alia, any of the following remedies:

(1) By mandamus or other proceeding at law or in equity, cause to establish rates and
collect fees and charges for use of the Utility System, and to require the Project Sponsor to fulfill
this Agreement.

(2) By action or suit in equity, require the Project Sponsor to account for all moneys
received from the Department or from the ownership of the Utility System and to account for the
receipt, use, application, or disposition of the Pledged Revenues.

(3) By action or suit in equity, enjoin any acts or things which may be unlawful or in
violation of the rights of the Department.

(4) By applying to a court of competent jurisdiction, cause to appoint a receiver to
manage the Utility System, establish and collect fees and charges, and apply the revenues to the
reduction of the obligations under this Agreement.

(5) By certifying to the Auditor General and the Chief Financial Officer delinquency on
loan repayments, the Department may intercept the delinquent amount plus six percent, expressed
as an annual interest rate, penalty of the amount due to the Department from any unobligated
funds due to the Project Sponsor under any revenue or tax sharing fund established by the State,
except as otherwise provided by the State Constitution or State law. Penalty interest shall accrue
on any amount due and payable beginning on the 30th day following the date upon which
payment is due.

(6) By notifying financial market credit rating agencies and potential creditors.

(7) By suing for payment of amounts due, or becoming due, with interest on overdue
payments together with all costs of collection, including attorneys' fees.

11
Page 96 of 115



(8) By accelerating the repayment schedule or increasing the interest rate on the unpaid
principal of the Loan to as much as 1.667 times the Loan interest rate.

6.03. DELAY AND WAIVER.

No course of dealing between Department and Project Sponsor, or any failure or delay on
the part of Department in exercising any rights or remedies hereunder, shall operate as a waiver of
any rights or remedies of Department, and no single or partial exercise of any rights or remedies
hereunder shall operate as a waiver or preclude the exercise of any other rights or remedies
hereunder. No delay or omission by the Department to exercise any right or power accruing upon
Events of Default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver of any
such default or acquiescence therein, and every such right and power may be exercised as often as
may be deemed expedient. No waiver or any default under this Agreement shall extend to or
affect any subsequent Events of Default, whether of the same or different provision of this
Agreement, or shall impair consequent rights or remedies.

ARTICLE VII - RESERVED
ARTICLE VIII - GENERAL PROVISIONS
8.01. RESERVED.
8.02. PROJECT RECORDS AND STATEMENTS.

Books, records, reports, engineering documents, contract documents, and papers shall be
available to the authorized representatives of the Department for inspection at any reasonable time
after the Project Sponsor has received a disbursement and until five years after the Final
Amendment date.

8.03. ACCESS TO PROJECT SITE.

The Project Sponsor shall provide access to offices and other sites where Planning and
Design Activities or Project work (if financed by this Loan) is ongoing, or has been performed, to
authorized representatives of the Department at any reasonable time. The Project Sponsor shall
cause its engineers and contractors to provide copies of relevant records and statements for
inspection.

8.04. ASSIGNMENT OF RIGHTS UNDER AGREEMENT.

The Department may assign any part of its rights under this Agreement after notification
to the Project Sponsor. The Project Sponsor shall not assign rights created by this Agreement
without the written consent of the Department.

8.05. AMENDMENT OF AGREEMENT.

This Agreement may be amended, except that no amendment shall be permitted which is
inconsistent with statutes, rules, regulations, executive orders, or written agreements between the
Department and the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). A Final Amendment

12
Page 97 of 115



establishing the final costs financed by this Loan and the actual Loan Service Fee shall be
completed after the Department’s final inspection of relevant documents and records.

8.06. ABANDONMENT, TERMINATION OR VOLUNTARY CANCELLATION.

Failure of the Project Sponsor to actively prosecute or avail itself of this Loan (including
e.g. described in para 1 and 2 below) shall constitute its abrogation and abandonment of the rights
hereunder, and the Department may then, upon written notification to the Project Sponsor,
suspend or terminate this Agreement.

(1) Failure of the Project Sponsor to draw on the Loan proceeds within eighteen months
after the effective date of this Agreement, or by the date set in Section 10.07 to establish the Loan
Debt Service Account, whichever date occurs first.

(2) Failure of the Project Sponsor, after the initial Loan draw, to draw any funds under
the Loan Agreement for twenty-four months, without approved justification or demonstrable
progress on the Project.

Upon a determination of abandonment by the Department, the Loan will be suspended,
and the Department will implement administrative close out procedures (in lieu of those in
Section 4.02) and provide written notification of Final Unilateral Amendment to the Project
Sponsor.

In the event that following the execution of this Agreement, the Project Sponsor decides
not to proceed with this Loan, this Agreement can be cancelled by the Project Sponsor, without
penalty, if no funds have been disbursed.

8.07. SEVERABILITY CLAUSE.

If any provision of this Agreement shall be held invalid or unenforceable, the remaining
provisions shall be construed and enforced as if such invalid or unenforceable provision had not
been contained herein.

8.08. SIGNAGE.

The Project Sponsor agrees to comply with signage guidance in order to enhance public
awareness of EPA assistance agreements nationwide. A copy of this guidance is listed on the
Department’s webpage at https://floridadep.gov/wra/srf/content/state-revolving-fund-resources-
and-documents as “Guidance for Meeting EPA’s Signage Requirements”.

8.09. PUBLIC RECORDS ACCESS.

(1) The Project Sponsor shall comply with Florida Public Records law under Chapter
119, F.S. Records made or received in conjunction with this Agreement are public records under
Florida law, as defined in Section 119.011(12), F.S. The Project Sponsor shall keep and maintain
public records required by the Department to perform the services under this Agreement.

13
Page 98 of 115



(2) This Agreement may be unilaterally canceled by the Department for refusal by the
Project Sponsor to either provide to the Department upon request, or to allow inspection and
copying of all public records made or received by the Project Sponsor in conjunction with this
Agreement and subject to disclosure under Chapter 119, F.S., and Section 24(a), Article I, Florida
Constitution.

(3) IF THE PROJECT SPONSOR HAS QUESTIONS REGARDING
THE APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO THE
PROJECT SPONSOR’S DUTY TO PROVIDE PUBLIC RECORDS
RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, CONTACT THE DEPARTMENT’S
CUSTODIAN OF PUBLIC RECORDS AT (850)245-2118, by email at
public.services@dep.state.fl.us, or at the mailing address below:

Department of Environmental Protection

ATTN: Office of Ombudsman and Public Services
Public Records Request

3900 Commonwealth Blvd, MS 49

Tallahassee, FL 32399

8.10. SCRUTINIZED COMPANIES.

(1) The Project Sponsor certifies that it and its subcontractors are not on the Scrutinized
Companies that Boycott Israel List. Pursuant to Section 287.135, F.S., the Department may
immediately terminate this Agreement at its sole option if the Project Sponsor or its
subcontractors are found to have submitted a false certification; or if the Project Sponsor, or its
subcontractors are placed on the Scrutinized Companies that Boycott Israel List or is engaged in
the boycott of Israel during the term of the Agreement.

(2) If this Agreement is for more than one million dollars, the Project Sponsor certifies
that it and its subcontractors are also not on the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in Sudan,
Scrutinized Companies with Activities in the Iran Petroleum Energy Sector List, or engaged with
business operations in Cuba or Syria as identified in Section 287.135, F.S. Pursuant to Section
287.135, F.S., the Department may immediately terminate this Agreement at its sole option if the
Project Sponsor, its affiliates, or its subcontractors are found to have submitted a false
certification; or if the Project Sponsor, its affiliates, or its subcontractors are placed on the
Scrutinized Companies with Activities in Sudan List, or Scrutinized Companies with Activities in
the Iran Petroleum Energy Sector List, or engaged with business operations in Cuba or Syria
during the term of the Agreement.

(3) The Project Sponsor agrees to observe the above requirements for applicable
subcontracts entered into for the performance of work under this Agreement.

(4) As provided in Subsection 287.135(8), F.S., if federal law ceases to authorize these
contracting prohibitions then they shall become inoperative.

14
Page 99 of 115


mailto:public.services@dep.state.fl.us

8.11. SUSPENSION.

The Department may suspend any or all of its obligations to Loan or provide financial
accommodation to the Project Sponsor under this Agreement in the following events, as
determined by the Department:

(1) The Project Sponsor abandons or discontinues the Project before its completion,

(2) The commencement, prosecution, or timely completion of the Project by the Project
Sponsor is rendered improbable or the Department has reasonable grounds to be insecure in
Project Sponsor’s ability to perform, or

(3) The implementation of the Project is determined to be illegal, or one or more officials
of the Project Sponsor in responsible charge of, or influence over, the Project is charged with
violating any criminal law in the implementation of the Project or the administration of the
proceeds from this Loan.

The Department shall notify the Project Sponsor of any suspension by the Department of
its obligations under this Agreement, which suspension shall continue until such time as the event
or condition causing such suspension has ceased or been corrected, or the Department has re-
instated the Agreement.

Project Sponsor shall have no more than 30 days following notice of suspension hereunder
to remove or correct the condition causing suspension. Failure to do so shall constitute a default
under this Agreement.

Following suspension of disbursements under this Agreement, the Department may
require reasonable assurance of future performance from Project Sponsor prior to re-instating the
Loan. Such reasonable assurance may include, but not be limited to, a payment mechanism using
two party checks, escrow or obtaining a Performance Bond for the work remaining.

Following suspension, upon failure to cure, correct or provide reasonable assurance of
future performance by Project Sponsor, the Department may exercise any remedy available to it
by this Agreement or otherwise and shall have no obligation to fund any remaining Loan balance
under this Agreement.

8.12. CIVIL RIGHTS.

The Project Sponsor shall comply with all Title VI requirements of the Civil Rights Act of
1964, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 and the Age Discrimination Act of 1975,
which prohibit activities that are intentionally discriminatory and/or have a discriminatory effect
based on race, color, national origin (including limited English proficiency), age, disability, or
sex.

15
Page 100 of 115



8.13. PROHIBITION ON CERTAIN TELECOMMUNICATIONS AND VIDEO
SURVEILLANCE SERVICES OR EQUIPMENT.

The Project Sponsor and any contractors/subcontractors are prohibited from obligating or
expending any Loan or Principal Forgiveness funds to procure or obtain; extend or renew a
contract to procure or obtain; or enter into a contract (or extend or renew a contract) to procure or
obtain equipment, services, or systems that uses covered telecommunications equipment or
services as a substantial or essential component of any system, or as critical technology as part of
any system. See Section 889 of Public Law 115-232 (National Defense Authorization Act 2019).
Also, see 2 CFR 200.216 and 200.471.

ARTICLE IX - CONTRACTS AND INSURANCE

9.01. CONTRACTS.

(1) The following documentation is required to receive the Department's authorization to
award construction contracts:

(a) Proof of advertising.

(b) Award recommendation, bid proposal, and bid tabulation (certified by the responsible
engineer).

(c) Certification of compliance with the conditions of the Department's approval of
competitively or non-competitively negotiated procurement, if applicable.

(d) Certification Regarding Disbarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary
Exclusion.

(e) Certification by the Authorized Representative that affirmative steps were taken to
encourage Disadvantaged Business Enterprises participation in Project construction.

(f) Current certifications for Disadvantaged Business Enterprises participating in the
contract. If the goals as stated in the plans and specifications are not met, documentation of
actions taken shall be submitted.

(g) Certification that the Project Sponsor and contractors are in compliance with labor
standards, including prevailing wage rates established for its locality by the DOL under the Davis-
Bacon Act for Project construction.

(2) The following must be provided to the Department for professional services
contract(s):

(a) Certification by the Authorized Representative that affirmative steps were taken to
encourage Disadvantaged Business Enterprises participation.

(b) Current certifications for Disadvantaged Business Enterprises participating in the
contract.

16
Page 101 of 115



9.02. SUBMITTAL OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.

(1) After the Department's authorization to award construction contracts has been
received, the Project Sponsor shall submit the following documents:

(a) Contractor insurance certifications.
(b) Executed Contract(s).
(c) Notices to proceed with construction.

(2) After the Project Sponsor has awarded the professional services contract(s), the
Project Sponsor shall submit the following documents:

(a) Executed Contract(s).

(b) Professional Services Procurement Certification.
9.03. RESERVED.
ARTICLE X - DETAILS OF FINANCING
10.01. PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF LOAN.

The total amount awarded is $547,405. Of that, the estimated amount of Principal
Forgiveness is $268,228. The estimated principal amount of the Loan to be repaid is $279,177,
which consists of $279,177 to be disbursed to the Project Sponsor and $0 of Capitalized Interest.

Capitalized Interest is not disbursed to the Project Sponsor, but is amortized via periodic
Loan repayments to the Department as if it were actually disbursed. Capitalized Interest is
computed at the interest rate, or rates, set for the Loan. It accrues and is compounded annually
from the time when disbursements are made until six months before the first Loan Payment is
due. Capitalized Interest is estimated prior to establishment of the schedule of actual
disbursements.

10.02. LOAN SERVICE FEE.

The Loan Service Fee is estimated as $10,948 for the Loan amount authorized to date.
The fee represents two percent of the Loan amount excluding Capitalized Interest; that is, two
percent of $547,405. The Loan Service Fee is estimated at the time of execution of the loan
agreement and shall be revised with any increase or decrease amendment. The Loan Service Fee
is based on actual Project costs and will be assessed in the final Loan amendment. The Project
Sponsor shall pay the Loan Service Fee with the Loan Payment.

10.03. INTEREST RATE.

The rate of interest on the unpaid principal of the Loan amount specified in Section 10.01
is 0 percent per annum.

17
Page 102 of 115



10.04. LOAN TERM.
The Loan term shall be 6 months.
10.05. REPAYMENT SCHEDULE.

The Loan Payment shall be computed based upon the principal amount of the Loan less
the Principal Forgiveness plus the estimated Loan Service Fee. The Loan Payment amount may
be adjusted, by amendment of this Agreement, based upon revised information. After the final
disbursement of Loan proceeds, the Loan Payment shall be based upon the actual Project costs,
the actual Loan Service Fee and Loan Service Fee Capitalized Interest, if any, and actual dates
and amounts of disbursements. Actual Project costs shall be established after the Department's
inspection of the completed Project and associated records.

The Loan Payment shall be in the amount of $290,125. The interest portion of the Loan
Payment shall be computed on the unpaid balance of the principal amount of the Loan, which
includes Capitalized Interest. Interest also shall be computed on the unpaid balance of the Loan
Service Fee. Interest on the unpaid balance shall be computed as of the due date of each Loan
Payment.

The Loan Payment shall be received by the Department on or before August 15, 2027 to
avoid interest accruing on the loan amount. Funds transfer shall be made by electronic means.

10.06. PROJECT COSTS.

The Project Sponsor and the Department acknowledge that actual Project costs have not
been determined as of the effective date of this Agreement. An adjustment may be made due to a
reduction in the scope of work proposed for Loan funding as a result of the planning process.
Capitalized Interest will be recalculated based on actual dates and amounts of Loan
disbursements. The final costs shall be established in the final amendment. Changes in costs may
also occur as a result of the Project Sponsor's audit or the Department's audit.

The Project Sponsor agrees to the following estimates of the Project costs:

CATEGORY PROJECT COSTS ()
Planning and Design Activities 547,405
Less Principal Forgiveness (268,228)

SUBTOTAL (Loan Amount) 279,177
Capitalized Interest 0

TOTAL (Loan Principal Amount) 279,177

10.07. SCHEDULE.

All Planning and Design Activities shall be completed no later than the date set forth
below.

(1) Invoices submitted for work performed on or after July 12, 2023 may be eligible for
reimbursement.

18
Page 103 of 115



(2) Completion of all Planning and Design Activities for all Project facilities proposed for
loan funding no later than February 15, 2027.

(3) The Loan Repayment Escrow Account shall be established and $290,125 shall be
deposited no later than the execution of this Agreement.

(4) The Loan Payment in the amount of $290,125 shall be due August 15, 2027.
10.08. SPECIAL CONDITIONS.
(1) Prior to execution of this Agreement, the following items must be submitted:

(a) Documentation that the Loan Repayment Escrow Account has been established and
provide a copy of the letter restricting withdrawals, as required under item 10.07(3), above; and

(b) A signed contract between the engineering consulting firm and the Project Sponsor
with specific details of the planning and design work to be completed; and

(c) A certified copy of the Resolution which authorizes the application and designates an
Authorized Representative for signing the application and executing the Loan Agreement, and

(d) A Consultants Competitive Negotiation Act Form.

(2) Prior to disbursement of any funds a draft lead service line inventory and replacement
plan must be submitted.

(3) The Project Sponsor agrees by execution of this Agreement to the terms and
conditions as required by the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act/Bipartisan Infrastructure
Law and will ensure contracts whether directly entered into with the Project Sponsor or through
subcontracts incorporate the required provisions of the law into the Project.

REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

19
Page 104 of 115



ARTICLE XI - EXECUTION OF AGREEMENT

This Loan Agreement LS010210 may be executed in two or more counterparts, any of
which shall be regarded as an original and all of which constitute but one and the same
instrument.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Department has caused this Agreement to be executed on
its behalf by the Secretary or Designee and the Project Sponsor has caused this Agreement to be
executed on its behalf by its Authorized Representative and by its affixed seal. The effective date
of this Agreement shall be as set forth below by the Department.

for
CITY OF GAINESVILLE
Mayor
Attest: I attest to the opinion expressed in Section
2.02, entitled Legal Authorization.
City Clerk City Attorney
SEAL
for
STATE OF FLORIDA

DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Secretary or Designee Date

20
Page 105 of 115



EXHIBIT B

FORM ESCROW DEPOSIT AGREEMENT

Page 5 of 5
Page 106 of 115



ESCROW DEPOSIT AGREEMENT

THIS ESCROW DEPOSIT AGREEMENT, dated [ ], 2026 (the "Agreement")
by and between the CITY OF GAINESVILLE, FLORIDA (the "Issuer"), and U.S. BANK
TRUST COMPANY, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a national banking association, organized
and existing under the laws of the United States of America and having its designated corporate
trust office in Jacksonville, Florida, together with its successors and assigns (the "Escrow Agent");

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Issuer is authorized under Resolution No. 170395 incorporating by
reference the Second Amended and Restated Utilities System Revenue Bond Resolution adopted
by the Issuer on September 21, 2017, as amended by the Thirtieth Supplemental Utilities System
Revenue Bond Resolution No. 180747 adopted by the Issuer on February 21, 2019, as amended,
restated, and supplemented from time to time (the "Master Resolution") and the Act (as defined in
the Master Resolution) to issue Subordinated Indebtedness (as defined in the Master Resolution) for
any lawful purpose including improvements to the System (as defined in the Master Resolution);

WHEREAS, the Issuer entered into the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Planning and
Design Loan Agreement (LS010210), dated as of [ ], 2026 (the "Loan Agreement")
with the State of Florida Department of Environmental Protection ("DEP") under the State
Revolving Fund for project financing pursuant to which DEP made a loan to the Issuer (the "Loan"),

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 3.01 of the Loan Agreement, the Issuer may defease the
principal amount of the Loan, without penalty, by making a deposit of sufficient funds into an
irrevocable trust with a banking institution or trust company for the sole benefit of DEP; and

WHEREAS, the Escrow Agent has prior to the Issuer and DEP entering into the Loan
Agreement, opened the Escrow Fund described in Section 1 of this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the Issuer intends to defease its payment obligations under the Loan by
irrevocably depositing in escrow legally available funds of the Issuer in an amount sufficient to pay
the principal of the Loan together with $10,948 to be paid to the DEP as a service fee described in
Section 10.02 of the Loan Agreement (the "Loan Service Fee"); and

WHEREAS, upon deposit in escrow as herein contemplated, legally available funds of the
Issuer will be sufficient to pay when due, the outstanding principal amount of the Loan and the
Loan Service Fee; and

WHEREAS, because there is no interest on the Loan, no amounts for interest are necessary
to be deposited into escrow in order to defease the payment obligations under the Loan; and

WHEREAS, in order to provide for the proper and timely application of the moneys
deposited in said escrow to the retirement of the Loan, it is necessary to enter into this Agreement
with the Escrow Agent on behalf of DEP;

NOW, THEREFORE, THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSETH, for and in consideration of the
mutual covenants herein contained and of the acceptance by the Escrow Agent of the duties hereby

Page 107 of 115



created, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the Issuer hereby agrees with and covenants unto
the Escrow Agent, its successors in trust and its assigns forever, as follows:

SECTION 1. Establishment of and Payments from Escrow Fund. The Escrow Agent shall
establish an Escrow Fund (the "Escrow Fund") into which shall be deposited $290,125 of legally
available funds of the Issuer in order to retire in full the principal amount of the Loan and the Loan
Service Fee.

Moneys on deposit in the Escrow Fund shall be held solely for the benefit of and as security
for the Loan and shall be used for no other purpose. None of the Issuer or the Escrow Agent
shall have any right or claim to or lien on the amounts deposited in the Escrow Fund.

SECTION 2. Escrow Fund Disbursements. The Escrow Agent is hereby irrevocably
authorized and directed to make the payments set forth in Exhibit A hereto, from the Escrow Fund,
on the date(s) set forth in Exhibit A, to effect the payment in full of the Loan and the Loan Service
Fee. If amounts to be paid to DEP shall be less than the amounts reflected in Exhibit A, DEP shall
notify the Escrow Agent in writing of the actual amounts to be paid to DEP at least five business
days prior to the date of payment (with a copy of the written notice sent to the Issuer) and any
excess on deposit in the Escrow Fund shall be returned to the Issuer and the final payment to the
Issuer reflected in Exhibit A shall be adjusted accordingly.

SECTION 3. Irrevocable Escrow Created. The deposit of moneys into the Escrow Fund
shall constitute an irrevocable deposit of said moneys for the benefit of DEP and DEP shall have an
express lien on all moneys, until used and applied according to this Agreement. Such moneys shall
be held in escrow by the Escrow Agent in the Escrow Fund created hereunder for the benefit of
DEP as herein provided, and shall be kept separate and distinct from all other funds of the Issuer
and the Escrow Agent and used only for the purposes and in the manner provided in this Agreement.

SECTION 4. Acceptance of Duties by Escrow Agent. The Escrow Agent accepts and
agrees to execute the duties imposed upon it by this Agreement, but only upon the terms and
conditions set forth herein. The Escrow Agent undertakes to perform such duties and only such
duties as are specifically set forth in this Agreement, and no implied covenants or obligations
should be read into this Agreement against the Escrow Agent. The Escrow Agent agrees to
perform such duties only upon and subject to the following expressed terms and conditions:

(a) The Escrow Agent may execute any of the powers hereof and perform any of its
duties by or through attorneys, agents, receivers, or employees and shall not be answerable for
the conduct of the same if appointed with due care hereunder, and shall be entitled to advice of
counsel concerning all matters of duties hereof and duties hereunder, and the Issuer shall in all
cases pay such reasonable compensation to any attorney, agent, receiver or employee retained or
employed by it in connection herewith. The Escrow Agent may act upon the opinion or advice
of an attorney or accountant selected by it in the exercise of reasonable care or, if selected or
retained by the Issuer, approved by the Escrow Agent in the exercise of such care. The Escrow
Agent shall not be responsible for any loss or damage resulting from any action or nonaction
based on its good faith reliance upon such opinion or advice.

(b) The Escrow Agent shall not be responsible for the recording or re-recording,
filing or re-filing of this Agreement, or any supplement or amendment thereto, or the filing of

2
Page 108 of 115



financing statements, or for the validity of the execution by the Issuer of this Agreement, or of
any supplemental agreements or instruments of further assurance.

(©) The Escrow Agent shall not be accountable for the use or application by the Issuer
of any of the legally available proceeds or for the use or application of any money paid over by
the Escrow Agent in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.

(d) The Escrow Agent shall be protected in acting upon any notice, order, requisition,
request, consent, certificate, order, opinion (including an opinion of independent counsel),
affidavit, letter, telegram or other paper or document in good faith deemed by it to be genuine
and correct and to have been signed or sent by the proper person or persons.

(e) The Escrow Agent shall not be required to give any bond or surety in respect of
the execution of the said duties and powers or otherwise in respect of the premises.

® The permissive right of the Escrow Agent to do things enumerated in this
Agreement shall not be construed as a duty and the Escrow Agent shall not be answerable for
other than its gross negligence or willful misconduct.

(2) The Escrow Agent may refuse to perform any duty or exercise any right or power
which would require it to expend its own funds or risk any liability if it shall reasonably believe
that repayment of such funds or adequate indemnity against such risk is not reasonably assured
to it.

(h) The Escrow Agent shall not be liable for any indirect, consequential, punitive or
special damages, regardless of the form of action and whether or not any such damages were
foreseeable or contemplated.

(1) The Escrow Agent shall not be under any duty to give the Escrow Property held
by it hereunder any greater degree of care than it gives its own similar property and unless
directed by the Issuer, shall not be required to invest any funds held hereunder. Uninvested
funds held hereunder shall not earn or accrue interest.

() In no event shall the Escrow Agent be responsible or liable for any failure or
delay in the performance of its obligations hereunder arising out of or caused by, directly or
indirectly, forces beyond its control, including, without limitation, strikes, work stoppages,
accidents, acts of war or terrorism, civil or military disturbances, pandemics, epidemics,
recognized public emergencies, quarantine restrictions, nuclear or natural catastrophes or acts of
God, interruptions, loss or malfunctions of utilities, communications or computer (software and
hardware) services, and hacking, cyber-attacks, or other use or infiltration of the Escrow Agent's
technological infrastructure exceeding authorized access; it being understood that the Escrow
Agent shall use reasonable efforts that are consistent with accepted practices in the banking
industry to resume performance as soon as practicable under the circumstances.

Any banking association or corporation into which the Escrow Agent may be merged,
converted or with which the Escrow Agent may be consolidated, or any corporation resulting
from any merger, conversion or consolidation to which the Escrow Agent shall be a party, or any
banking association or corporation to which all or substantially all of the corporate trust business
of the Escrow Agent shall be transferred, shall succeed to all the Escrow Agent's rights,

3
Page 109 of 115



obligations and immunities hereunder without the execution or filing of any paper or any further
act on the part of any of the parties hereto, anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding.

The Escrow Agent may resign as such following the giving of thirty (30) days prior
written notice to the Issuer. Similarly, the Escrow Agent may be removed and replaced
following the giving of thirty (30) days prior written notice to the Escrow Agent by the Issuer. If
the Issuer has failed to appoint a successor prior to the expiration of thirty (30) days following
receipt of the notice of resignation or removal, the Escrow Agent may petition any court of
competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Escrow Agent or for other appropriate
relief, and any such resulting appointment shall be binding upon the Issuer.

The Escrow Agent shall have the right to accept and act upon instructions, including
funds transfer instructions ("Instructions") given pursuant to this Agreement and delivered using
Electronic Means; provided, however, that the Issuer shall provide to the Escrow Agent an
incumbency certificate listing officers with the authority to provide such Instructions
("Authorized Officers") and containing specimen signatures of such Authorized Officers, which
incumbency certificate shall be amended by the Issuer whenever a person is to be added or
deleted from the listing. If the Issuer elects to give the Escrow Agent Instructions using
Electronic Means and the Escrow Agent in its discretion elects to act upon such Instructions, the
Escrow Agent's understanding of such Instructions shall be deemed controlling. The Issuer
understands and agrees that the Escrow Agent cannot determine the identity of the actual sender
of such Instructions and that the Escrow Agent shall conclusively presume that directions that
purport to have been sent by an Authorized Officer listed on the incumbency certificate provided
to the Escrow Agent have been sent by such Authorized Officer. The Issuer shall be responsible
for ensuring that only Authorized Officers transmit such Instructions to the Escrow Agent and
that the Issuer and all Authorized Officers are solely responsible to safeguard the use and
confidentiality of applicable user and authorization codes, passwords and/or authentication keys
upon receipt by the Issuer. The Escrow Agent shall not be liable for any losses, costs or
expenses arising directly or indirectly from the Escrow Agent's reliance upon and compliance
with such Instructions notwithstanding such directions conflict or are inconsistent with a
subsequent written instruction. The Issuer agrees: (i) to assume all risks arising out of the use of
Electronic Means to submit Instructions to the Escrow Agent, including, without limitation, the
risk of the Escrow Agent acting on unauthorized Instructions, and the risk of interception and
misuse by third parties; (i1) that it is fully informed of the protections and risks associated with
the various methods of transmitting Instructions to the Escrow Agent and that there may be more
secure methods of transmitting Instructions than the method(s) selected by the Issuer; (iii) that
the security procedures (if any) to be followed in connection with its transmission of Instructions
provide to it a commercially reasonable degree of protection in light of its particular needs and
circumstances; and (iv) to notify the Escrow Agent immediately upon learning of any
compromised or unauthorized use of the security procedures. "Electronic Means" shall mean the
following communications methods: e-mail, facsimile transmission, secure electronic
transmission containing applicable authorization codes, passwords and/or authentication keys
issued by the Escrow Agent, or another method or system specified by the Escrow Agent as
available for use in connection with its services hereunder.

SECTION 5. Escrow Agent Fees and Indemnity. The Escrow Agent shall be paid fees
and out of pocket expenses (including legal fees and expenses) as set forth in Exhibit B hereto.

4
Page 110 of 115



SECTION 6. Indemnification of Escrow Agent. The Issuer shall indemnify, defend and
hold harmless the Escrow Agent and its officers, directors, employees, representatives and agents,
from and against and reimburse the Escrow Agent for any and all claims, expenses, obligations,
liabilities, losses, damages, injuries (to person, property, or natural resources), penalties, stamp
or other similar taxes, actions, suits, judgments, reasonable costs and expenses (including
reasonable attorney's fees and expenses) of whatever kind or nature regardless of their merit,
demanded, asserted or claimed against the Escrow Agent directly or indirectly relating to, or
arising from, claims against the Escrow Agent by reason of its participation in the transactions
contemplated hereby, including without limitation all reasonable costs required to be associated
with claims for damages to persons or property, and reasonable attorneys' and consultants' fees
and expenses and court costs except to the extent caused by the Escrow Agent's gross negligence
or willful misconduct. The provisions of this Section 5 shall survive the termination of this
Agreement or the earlier resignation or removal of the Escrow Agent.

SECTION 7. Investment of Funds. Any moneys in the Escrow Fund shall be invested by
the Escrow Agent upon the written direction of the Issuer (such direction to specify the particular
investment to be made), if and to the extent then permitted by law, in permitted investments, as
described in Exhibit C hereto. The Escrow Agent shall have no liability whatsoever for any loss,
fee, tax or other charge incurred in connection with any investment, reinvestment or liquidation
of an investment hereunder.

SECTION 8. Termination and Discharge of Agreement. This Agreement shall terminate
and be discharged on the date on which all amounts under the Escrow Fund have been disbursed.
After the final payment hereunder to DEP shall have been made any excess funds remaining on
deposit in the Escrow Fund shall be returned to the Issuer to such account as shall be directed by
the Issuer. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, upon notice from DEP to the
Escrow Agent that the Loan did not close, all amounts on deposit under this Agreement shall be
returned to the Issuer and this Agreement terminated.

SECTION 9. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the
substantive laws of the State of Florida, without regard to conflicts of laws principles thereof.

5
Page 111 of 115



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Issuer and the Escrow Agent have duly executed this
Escrow Deposit Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

CITY OF GAINESVILLE, FLORIDA

By:

Chief Executive Officer
Attested and countersigned:

By:

Utilities Attorney

U.S. BANK TRUST COMPANY, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION, as Escrow Agent

By:

Authorized Signatory

[Signature Page to the Escrow Deposit Agreement]

6
Page 112 of 115



Exhibit A

Payoff Instructions for Loan

Lender/Subaccount Loan Number Amount Payment Date Purpose
State of Florida Department of LS010210 $279,177 08/15/2027 Loan Payoff
Environmental Protection*
State of Florida Department of LS010210 $10,948 08/15/2027 Loan Service Fee
Environmental Protection*
City of Gainesville** LS010210 Balance in 08/15/2027 Return of excess
Escrow

* Assumes principal forgiveness of $268,228
**Return to Issuer of forgiven portion of loan

Wire Instructions:

State of Florida Department of Environmental Protection:

Bank Name:

ABA (wire transfers):

ABA (ACH transfers):
Account:
Account Name:

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.
1 Independent Drive

Jacksonville, Florida 32202

[ ]
[ ]
[ ]

STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL SERVICES
FL DEPT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

LOCATION 3700000

City of Gainesville, Florida:

To be provided at time of disbursement from the Issuer

#530083052_v6 136433.00050

Page 113 of 115




Exhibit B

Escrow Agent Fees and Expenses

Page 114 of 115



Exhibit C

Permitted Investments

Page 115 of 115



	Agenda
	F. GRUA_Nov12_2025 - Minutes.pdf
	1. 2025-978 State of the Utility, Monthly Update October 2025 (B).pdf
	1. 2025-978A State of the Utility Oct. 2025_20251202.pdf
	2. 2025-979 Funding Source - Jacob Rodgers Litigation Settlement (B).pdf
	2. 2025-979A Rodgers settlement information item to GRUA December 10 2025_20251202.pdf
	2. 2025-979A Cash balances as of September 30 2025_20251202.pdf
	1. 2025-980 GRU Review - November 2025 (B).pdf
	1. 2025-980A GRU Review - November_202512010.pdf
	1. 2025-981 SRF Loan and Grant Resolutions - PFAS Treatment Evaluation and Lead and Copper Rule Revision Compliance (B).pdf
	1. 2025-981A GRU (SRF Loan) - Resolution 2025-981A - WW011810 - 20251202.pdf
	1. 2025-981A GRU (SRF Loan) - Resolution 2025-981B - LS010210 - 20251202.pdf

